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Coro Energy plc is an AIM
listed, full-cycle, upstream
oil and gas exploration and
production company.
Our focus is on South East Asia where
we are targeting high-grade discoveries
that require commercialisation with
exploration upside, with a preference for
gas over oil.

OUR STRENGTHS
Regional gas and oil strategy backed by:
•
•
•

Supply/demand imbalance
Strong local gas markets
Scarcity of credible small cap operators

Experienced and successful founder group
•
•

Directors with experience in mid-cap E&P
Lean, low cost management structure

Focused business development team
•
•

Secured 15% interest in the Duyung PSC (West Natuna, Indonesia) with
discovered resource
Mako gas field (Duyung PSC) is close to market for early monetisation

Production platform in Italy
•
•
•

Provides Coro with firm foundation
Operating four producing fields which credentialises Coro as an operator
Exemplary HSE record

Visit www.coroenergyplc.com
for the latest news, reports,
presentations and videos
@CoroEnergy
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STATEMENT FROM THE CHAIRMAN
2019 was a busy year for the Group
as we secured a 15% interest in
the Duyung Production Sharing
Contract (“PSC”), issued a €22.5m
Eurobond and participated in the
drilling of two successful appraisal
wells on the Duyung PSC which
has unlocked significant additional
volumes. We also continued both
with the technical evaluation of Block
2A in Malaysia and to progress our
business development activities in
South East Asia, targeting a bold
production-led acquisition.

James Parsons
Non-Executive Chairman

The Group made a loss before tax
from continuing operations of $7.9m
for the period (2018: loss before tax
from continuing operations $4.5m),
which was driven by corporate
costs including ongoing business
development activities in South
East Asia, as well as interest charges
relating to the Group’s Eurobond.
The Company is firmly committed
to its South East Asia strategy and,
as a result of this commitment
coupled with regulatory changes
introduced in Italy which included
an increase in surface fees as well
as a suspension in the permitting
of activities for exploration licences,
the Board decided to prioritise
the divestment of the Group’s
Italian business. Subsequently, we
announced the conditional sale
of our Italian business to Zenith
Energy Ltd in December 2019 (which
remains subject to the approval of
the Italian Ministry of Economic
Development). Accordingly, our
Italian business is now classified as
a disposal group held for sale on
the balance sheet and the losses
attributable to this disposal group
are classified as discontinued in
the income statement. The loss
from discontinued operations for
the period was $8.8m (2018: $7.2m),
which was primarily attributable
to non-cash impairments totalling
$6.6m (2018: $7.2m).
Post year-end, the COVID-19
pandemic has resulted in a sudden
and significant worsening in the
investment climate and the wider
economy. The situation in oil and gas
markets was further worsened by a
dispute between Russia and Saudi
Arabia over planned production
cuts aimed at supporting the oil
price, which led to an increase in
supply just as demand was falling
due to the economic impact of the
pandemic, causing an oil price crash.
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These events have only made the
task tougher for E&P companies, but
the Board continues to believe in
Coro’s long term prospects and the
now proven quality of its Mako asset,
as well as its ability to add further
opportunities to the portfolio when
macro conditions improve.

POSITIONING THE
COMPANY FOR THE
FUTURE
Whilst the Company is not currently
an oil producer and expects that
depressed global oil prices will
ultimately give rise to additional
potential business development
opportunities, the Board considers
that prevailing global events are
likely to result in delays both in
the completion of the disposal
of our Italian portfolio, and in the
Company’s ability to execute further
material acquisition(s) in South East
Asia.
As at 31 March 2020 the Company
had unaudited cash balances
of approximately $4.5 million.
Despite this strong cash position,
the Company considered it to be
commercially prudent to significantly
reduce its cost base given it is not
possible to predict how long current
difficult market conditions will last.
As part of this exercise, and as
announced by the Company on
2 April 2020, the Board decided to
immediately reduce its executive
staffing. Following consultation with
cornerstone investors and in line with
current practices in other companies,
the Company’s Nominations and
Remuneration Committee offered
the executive directors the options
of: (a) taking an unpaid sabbatical; (b)
receiving 3 months’ notice (subject to
conditions), payable in new ordinary
shares in the Company, for the
termination of their employments;
and/or (c) stepping into a NED role.
In putting these options to the
executive directors, the Company
made the difficult but robust
decision to not offer cash payments
to outgoing executives. Andrew
Dennan, previously the Company’s
CFO, elected to become a NonExecutive Director of the Company
with immediate effect. James
Menzies, the Company’s former CEO,
did not accept any of the options
offered to him and, in light of this
and, inter alia, the need for the
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Appraisal success at
Duyung is a game
changer for Coro Energy,
adding 33 Bcf to our
resources.
James Parsons
Non-Executive Chairman

Company to cut costs to conserve
cash resources in the current
environment, the Board took the
decision to terminate his employment
with immediate effect and without
payment (notwithstanding any notice
provisions in his service agreement).
Reflecting the lack of near term
operational activity in South East Asia,
and with each of the Non-Executive
Directors providing support to the
Company’s executive management
functions where required and
appropriate to do so, Peter Christie,
the Company’s existing Group
Financial Controller, now reports
directly to the Coro Board having
taken on the additional executive
duties as Interim CFO. Leonardo
Salvadori, Managing Director of Italy,
will continue to report directly to
the Coro Board and has also take on
additional executive duties across
South East Asia.
With the reduction in executive
headcount, along with wider staff
reductions and cuts to all nonessential expenditures, the Group
expects to reduce annualised General
and Administrative (“G&A”) costs by
$2.3m. Of this, $1.9m in cost reductions
relates to continuing operations
while $0.4m relates to discontinued
operations.
In Italy, prevailing gas prices in 2020
have been significantly lower than
the corresponding period last year
and these low prices are expected
to continue through the summer.
As a result, and in the light of Italy’s
early and widespread exposure
to COVID-19, the Company took
the decision in early April 2020 to

temporarily suspend production
on its Sillaro, Bezzecca and Casa
Tiberi fields. The fields will continue
to be maintained to allow the swift
resumption of production when
external conditions improve. The
production suspension is expected
to save $0.1 million and also allows
the Company to delay 10-year
maintenance activities on Sillaro,
conserving a further $0.3 million.
Production at Rapagnano continues.
These significant cost saving measures
will ensure the Group will have
sufficient working capital to meet its
requirements until April 2021, when
the second annual coupon payment
becomes due on Tranche A of the
Company’s EUR 22.5m 2022 Eurobond.

DUYUNG PSC: NEW
ACQUISITION AND
SUCCESSFUL MAKO FIELD
APPRAISAL
In February 2019 we announced the
acquisition of a 15% working interest
in the Duyung PSC, offshore West
Natuna, Indonesia, which contains
the Mako gas field.
On acquisition, the Mako gas field had
gross 2C resources of 276 Bcf (48.78
MMboe) of recoverable dry gas with
gross 3C resources of 392 Bcf (69.3
MMboe), as independently certified
by Gaffney, Cline and Associates
(“GCA”). Our interest was acquired
for total consideration of $4.8m,
comprising $2.95m in cash and $1.85m
in Coro shares priced at 2.35 pence
per new share (being the 30-day
volume weighed average price of
Coro shares prior to announcement
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of the transaction), plus $10.5m which
was paid into the PSC vehicle as
partial funding for the 2019 drilling
programme. In aggregate this
represented an effective acquisition
price of $0.34/MMbtu on a 2C resource
basis. In March 2019, following the
Duyung acquisition, we announced
that the Indonesian Minister of Energy
and Mineral Resources had approved
the Plan of Development (“POD”)
for the Mako field, which is a key
milestone towards monetising the
Mako gas.
In September 2019, the Duyung
partners announced the start of a
drilling campaign comprising two
back-to-back wells designed to
further appraise the Mako gas field,
with a secondary objective to explore
the Tambak exploration prospect
located below the main Mako field in
the Lower Gabus formation.
The first well, Tambak-2, was a 13.5
km step out from Mako South-1
discovery well and was a successful
appraisal of the Mako gas field. Both
pressure data and the gas-water
contact confirmed the well as being
located in the same system as Mako
South-1, demonstrating that the field
covers a very large areal extent, with
a well-developed sandstone reservoir
with exceptionally good porosity and
permeability.
The second well, Tambak-1, was located
approximately 4.5 km from Mako
South-1 and was another successful
appraisal of the Mako field. The same,
well developed reservoir section was
encountered on prognosis, though
somewhat thicker than predicted. A
drill stem test (“DST”) was conducted
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STATEMENT FROM THE CHAIRMAN
across the intra-Muda reservoir and
flowed dry gas at a maximum rate
of 11.4 MMscf/d which confirms the
deliverability of the Mako reservoir.
Gas samples recovered from the
reservoir also confirmed the same gas
composition as seen in Mako South-1.
Following this appraisal success,
the Tambak-1 well was deepened to
test the underlying 250 Bcf Tambak
prospect. Although encouraging gas
shows were observed while drilling
through thick potential stacked
reservoirs, a petrophysical evaluation
determined the reservoirs to be tight
and the well to be sub-commercial.
Encouragingly, the results provide
clear evidence of an active petroleum
system underlying the base Muda
unconformity, which could provide
opportunities for future exploration
within the Duyung PSC.
As a result of the successful drilling
campaign, the operator of the
Duyung PSC estimates that the
gross recoverable 2C resource of
the Mako field has increased to 493
Bcf, an increase of 79% since the
acquisition by Coro. Gaffney Cline and
Associates ("GCA") are in the process
of conducting a new independent
reserves audit for the Mako field
and the Company looks forward to
updating shareholders on the results
of the audit, which are now expected
to be published in late Q2 2020.

BULU PSC: CHANGING
LANDSCAPE
In July 2019, the Group announced
a restructuring of the Bulu PSC
acquisition terms, which most
notably involved an amendment
to the payment schedule of the
cash consideration components
to be paid by Coro to AWE Limited
(“AWE”). The amended terms
also delayed the transaction long
stop date to 2 December 2019.
Subsequently, delays to Ministerial
approvals saw the transaction
pass through the revised long
stop date and, despite the parties
being in the process of negotiating
a further six-month extension, a
decision was taken by the Board
to terminate the acquisition given
a) the more attractive investment
opportunity in our Duyung asset, b)
a growing number of sizeable M&A
opportunities emerging in the region
and c) increased risks associated with
Bulu PSC and the development of the
Lengo gas field.
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These latter concerns were based on
the uncertainty of the future of the
operating partner, Kris Energy, the
potential changes to the composition
of the Bulu PSC partnership
group and the possibility of the
introduction of new requirements
being introduced to satisfy the Plan
of Development of the Lengo field.
Overall, the Board viewed the risks
associated with the acquisition
had significantly increased and
consequently the acquisition
agreement was allowed to lapse in
accordance with its terms.

MALAYSIA BLOCK 2A
The Company continues to build
relationships with Petroleum Nasional
Berhad (“PETRONAS”) and has
been working collegiately with the
Malaysian national oil company in
our joint technical study on Block 2A,
offshore Sarawak. Work to date has
proven fruitful with the identification
of several multi-Tcf exploration
prospects on the acreage. We have
now fulfilled our joint technical study
commitments and remain in active
dialogue with PETRONAS regarding
the next stage of the project.

DISPOSAL OF ITALIAN
BUSINESS
In December 2019, we entered into
a binding conditional SPA with
Zenith Energy Ltd to dispose of our
Italian business through the sale of
our wholly owned subsidiary, Coro
Europe Limited. Consideration for the
disposal includes an initial payment
of £400,000 to be satisfied in Zenith
shares priced at £0.06 per share. We
will receive further consideration
of £3.5m subject to the portfolio
producing an average of 100,000 scm
of gas per day for a period of four
consecutive months. This deferred
consideration will also be satisfied in
Zenith shares priced at an effective
issue price equal to a 40% premium
to the then prevailing Zenith share
price at the time of issue. Completion
of the transaction is conditional on,
inter alia, regulatory approvals from
the Italian authorities. Given the
current situation in Italy in relation to
COVID-19, the Company anticipates
ongoing delays in the receipt of
Italian ministerial approvals for the
Disposal.

INSTITUTIONALLY
FUNDED
In April 2019, we announced the
successful closing of our proposed

issue of €22.5m Eurobonds with
warrants attached which raised net
proceeds of €17.4m after transaction
costs (approximately $19.2m). This
institutionally subscribed financing
enabled us to fund the consideration
owed in relation to the Duyung
PSC acquisition as well as raising
additional proceeds for corporate
general and administrative purposes.
The Eurobond issue was heavily
supported by key existing institutional
cornerstone investors Lombard Odier
and CIP Merchant Capital, who in
aggregate own circa 75% of the issued
debt and warrant instruments which
trade on the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange.

OUTLOOK
As a consequence of the above
actions, the Group is well positioned
to weather the difficult period the
industry currently faces, and in the
medium term deliver growth in
shareholder value having:
• Significantly reduced our cost
base;
• Further demonstrated access
to capital while improving our
liquidity position through the
successful Eurobond issue;
• Increased the Group’s resources
through the successful Duyung
2019 drilling campaign while also
de-risking the project; and
• Withdrawn from the Bulu
acquisition, freeing up liquidity
to further progress the Duyung
project and evaluate other
acquisition opportunities when
economic conditions improve.
We believe that excellent
opportunities in the oil and gas
sector remain, particularly in strong
regional gas markets like Asia; and
the Board remains confident we
have the appropriate strategy to
succeed. Whilst in the near term we
have moved decisively to protect our
cash resources, when capital markets
reopen and the environment for M&A
improves, the Company will be well
positioned to take advantage of the
opportunities that will undoubtedly
arise. In the meantime, we thank
shareholders for their patience and
wish them safe passage through this
turbulent period.

James Parsons
Non-Executive Chairman
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WHY SOUTH EAST ASIA?
INCREASING DEMAND

South East Asia is
set to have a major
impact over the next
two decades, adding
the equivalent of
Japan’s entire energy
system to global
demand.

POPULATION
GROWTH
−0.3%

•

Supply-demand imbalance
has led to attractive gas prices
compared to the West

•

Majors are looking to exit as they
rationalise their portfolios

•

Scarcity of credible small and
mid-cap operators

•

Management team with deep
regional experience, local
relationships and track record of
success in the sector

1-2%

ENERGY
DEMAND
GROWTH†

4.0%
−0.3%

SE Asia
Europe
*

Average annual growth until 2025

†

Average annual growth until 2040

Source:

World Bank, OECD, IEA

FALLING SUPPLY
8
7
6
MILLION BOE/D

Strong economies and increasing
forecast energy demand

4-6%

GDP
GROWTH*

IEA
South East Asia Outlook 2019

•

1.0%

5
4
3
2
1
0

2015

2020

Australasia
Eastern Asia
South-eastern Asia
Source:
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2025

2030

2035

2040

Southern Asia

Wood Mackenzie
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BUSINESS MODEL

OP
VEL
DE

Coro takes both an organic
(Appraisal and Development)
and inorganic (Mergers and
Acquisitions) approach to
building its portfolio of oil and
gas interests. We have already
demonstrated the ability to acquire
gas resources at significant discounts
to theoretical value and we continue
to observe further opportunities for us
to transact and acquire new resources
in a similar way. Organic acquisitions,
where licences are awarded by host
governments, are being actively
pursued and the Company intends
to participate in both exploration
and discovered resource bidding
rounds, most notably in Malaysia as
well as Indonesia. The joint technical
study on Block 2A with national
oil company PETRONAS is the first
indication of success through this
route of acquisition. Additionally, we
are continuously screening, ranking
and evaluating farm-in and acquisition
opportunities that match our
investment criteria by demonstrating
attractive risk versus reward dynamics
as well as being a coherent and
strategic fit to our wider business
interests.

EXPLORE
AND
DEVELOP
Coro is looking to build a number of
asset "hubs" in South East Asia. These
hubs are instigated by the acquisition
of a discovered resource that we can
commercialise and within which we
can identify ways to enhance the
development’s value through either
i) step-out exploration within the
existing licence; and/or ii) through
the Company acquiring interests in
the surrounding prospective acreage.
This "small e" exploration approach
seeks to maximise coherence within
our asset pool and take advantage
of synergies between the geological
knowledge and understandings
gained through the evaluation of a
discovered field and applying this to
proximal prospects which could be
tied back to the initial development.
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LO
EXP RE AN
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ACQUIRE

LOIT
P
EX

ACQUIRE

EXPLOIT
Coro intends to exploit all commercial
resources within its portfolio in order
to achieve a highly profitable future
production plateau and financial
profile that provides substantial free
cash flows to the enlarged Group.
These free cash flows from production
will initially be used to reinvest in the
asset pipeline in order to mature the
wider asset base up the value curve
and into commercial production,
thereby enabling the Company to be
well-positioned in order to continue to
acquire, explore, develop and exploit
for the future.
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STRATEGY
Coro’s aim is to become a mid-tier South East Asia-focused exploration
and production company.
1. UTILISE THE CORO
PLATFORM
•

Operator Status: Coro is the
operator of an existing European
production portfolio which is
underpinned by reserves and
resources, and credentialises Coro
with host governments in new
target geographies

•

Access to Capital: Coro is well
funded and institutionally
supported by key cornerstone
institutional investors in addition
to a wider supportive shareholder
register

•

Proven Track Record: Board with
a proven track record in creating
exceptional shareholder value

2. USE OUR KEY COMPETITIVE
ADVANTAGES IN RAPIDLY
ESTABLISHING A SOUTH
EAST ASIAN PORTFOLIO
•

Network: Board and Executive
management are well connected
in the region with upstream
players, service providers,
governments, national oil
companies and regulators

•

Capabilities: Team with a
harmonious balance of technical,
commercial and financial skills

•

Experience: Team with a track
record of building and realising
value from South East Asian E&P
assets

3. COMMERCIALISE
AND MONETISE
•

Hub Strategy: Coherent strategy
which limits downside risk by
targeting assets with discovered
resource in place

•

Exploration: Where value is added
through technical de-risking and
the drill bit

•

Appraisal: Where low technical
risks and smart, low-cost
development options can be
created

•

Production: Where it facilitates
further exploration and/or
appraisal as well as having financial
synergies with wider asset portfolio

INDEPENDENT E&P STRATEGY IN SE ASIA
TRIED AND TESTED MODEL

3
2

1
08

Hub strategy well suited
to SE Asia
SURROUNDING
ACREAGE

STEP-OUT
EXPLORATION

GREEN/
BROWN FIELD
DEVELOPMENT

•

Enhanced technical insight

•

Operational flexibility

•

Financial synergies

3

PICK UP SURROUNDING
OPPORTUNITIES IN
SAME BASIN

2

LOW RISK EXPLORATION
USING SUBSURFACE
KNOWLEDGE

1

ADD VALUE THROUGH
DEVELOPMENT /
REDEVELOPMENT
COMMERCIALISATION
Coro Energy PLC

Strategic Report

www.coroenergyplc.com

DISCOVERED RESOURCE VALUE

CAPITAL RETURN
TO SHAREHOLDER

IMPLEMENTATION OF
THE HUB STRATEGY
Asset:

Large operated equity
participation

Duyung PSC

•

I ncreased access to
opportunities

•

Control timing/spend

•

 artial sell down further
P
up the value curve

Duyung PSC was acquired using
a mixture of cash and shares
highlighting the financial flexibility of
SE Asian operators. Coro entered the
PSC with two drill ready appraisal and
exploration prospects in a licence with
existing discovered resources – the
start of the hub. The appraisal drilling
in 2019 increased the existing 2C
resource on the project. Next step will
be to look for further opportunities in
the nearby basins.

How we implemented
the Hub Strategy:

CAPITAL
REDEPLOYMENT

•
•
•

DEVELOPMENT MATURITY
Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2019
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW
DUYUNG
•

Duyung PSC contains the
Mako gas field; a shallow gas
accumulation covering a huge
areal extent

•

Six wells have been drilled on
the field including a two well
programme in 2019

Location

West Natuna Basin, Indonesia

Water depth

100m

Coro working interest

15%

•

Contains dry gas, no H2S, minimal
CO2, over 97% methane

2C recoverable resource*

74.0 Bcf

•

2019 drilling campaign resulted in
a 36% increase in the gas resource

Acquisition price†

$0.34/MMbtu

In April 2019, Coro completed the
acquisition of a 15% interest in the
Duyung Production Sharing Contract.
Our interest was acquired for total
consideration of $4.8m, comprising
$2.95m in cash and $1.85m in Coro
shares, plus $10.5m which was paid
into the PSC vehicle as partial funding
for the 2019 work programme, which
included the drilling of two wells.
Transfer of title of the 15% PSC interest
to Coro’s wholly owned subsidiary is
still pending Indonesian regulatory
approval, which is expected to be
obtained in Q2 2020. If for any reason
the transfer is not approved by the
regulator, Coro will instead acquire
15% of the issued capital of West
Natuna Exploration Ltd, whose only
asset is a 100% interest in the Duyung
PSC.
In March 2019, the Indonesian
Ministry of Energy and Mineral
Resources approved the Duyung
Plan of Development, a key milestone
in monetising the Mako gas field.
The approved development plan
envisages Mako being developed
in two phases. Phase 1 will target
a production rate of 90 MMscf/d
from four development wells (three
subsea wells and one platform well),
producing through an unmanned
platform. The gas will then be tiedin to the West Natuna Pipeline
System, which transports gas into
the lucrative Singapore market.
Compression will be required and
a second phase of development is
envisaged later in the field’s life to
maintain the production plateau,
comprising an additional four
subsea wells.
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*	

Based on the operator's estimate released in April 2020

†	Based on 2C recoverable resources net to Coro of 41.4 Bcf when our interest was
acquired in February 2019, as certified by Gaffney, Cline and Associates in 2018.

In Q4 2019, the partners undertook
a successful drilling programme,
discussed on the next page, which
was executed on time and on budget.
The campaign unlocked an increase
in 2C resources net to Coro of 33 Bcf
compared with the net resource we
acquired in Q1 2019, based on the
operator's estimates.
In 2020, the focus now turns to key
commercial objectives necessary to
monetise the Mako gas field. This
includes an updated resource audit
by Gaffney, Cline and Associates

and the submission of an updated
POD to the Indonesian authorities
which takes into account the latest
data from the drilling campaign,
including the increased estimate
of recoverable gas and higher
potential plateau production rate of
150 MMscf/d. Access negotiations for
the WNTS also continue, along with
continued efforts to secure a gas sales
agreement for Mako gas. The partners
are targeting a final investment
decision on the project in Q4 2020.
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WEST NATUNA & MALAY BASINS – INFRASTRUCTURE

MAKO GAS FIELD

Well

Objective

Highlights

Tambak-1

Appraise the central
area of the Mako field

•

 op reservoir depth of the Mako field came in at circa 389 metres TVDSS as
T
predicted and encountered a very well developed upper sandstone unit of
approximately 5.2 metres with wireline logs showing excellent porosity and
permeabilities

•

Pressure data confirmed the same pressure system as Mako South-1 and
Tambak-2, and gas samples were of the same composition as Mako South-1

•

A DST was undertaken which flowed dry gas at a maximum flow rate of 11.4
MMscf/d

•

The well was deepened beneath the Mako field to a depth of 1,543m
TVDSS to test the Tambak exploration prospect. The well encountered
multiple sandstone intervals in the Lower Gabus section as predicted,
with corresponding hydrocarbon shows seen while drilling. However,
petrophysical interpretation of wireline log data concluded that these
sandstones had low gas saturations and attempts to collect fluid samples
and pressure data demonstrated low permeabilities.

•

The well was plugged and abandoned as planned.

Deepen well below
the main field to test
the Lower Gabus
exploration prospect

Tambak-2

Appraise the southerly •
extent of the Mako
gas field through a
•
significant 13.5 km
step-out from the
Mako South-1 well.
•

Top reservoir depth came in on prognosis at circa 381 metres TVDSS,
approximately 3 metres up dip from the Mako South-1 well
Well-developed upper sandstone unit, greater thickness and overall
quality than anticipated with wireline logs showing excellent porosity and
permeabilities
Pressure data confirmed the same pressure system as Mako South-1, the
same gas-water contact, and samples obtained showed the same dry
methane gas seen at Mako South-1, confirming the very large areal extent of
the Mako field

Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2019
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW
BLOCK 2A JOINT STUDY AGREEMENT
•

Study area 2,400 km2

•

High Quality 3D seismic
over 2,900 km2

•

Target high-graded prospect;
220 km2 of closure

•

Multi-TCF gas resource potential

•

A ready gas market –
gas potentially discovered would
be marketed through the Bintulu
LNG facility where there is a
feedgas capacity shortfall

TITLE OF MAP

In December 2018, Coro Energy
signed a joint study agreement
(“JSA”) with PETRONAS for Block 2A,
which is located offshore Sarawak in
Eastern Malaysia. The block covers an
area of 2,400 km2 in North Luconia
and is yet to be drilled. The North
Luconia province is relatively sparsely
explored, and Coro has been working
with PETRONAS to de-risk the main
hydrocarbon play elements ahead
of eventual exploration drilling. The
block lies some 400 km from the
Sarawak coastline in water depths of
approximately 1,000 metres.

Technical summary

The largest structural prospect on
the block is known as Kertang. It is
modelled to consist of Cycle I (Late
Oligocene, lower coastal plain) and
Cycle II (Early Miocene, upper shore
face) clastic reservoirs. The top of
the Kertang structure is defined by
the Middle Miocene Unconformity
(“MMU”), a regional unconformity that
is clearly visible throughout the North
Luconia province.
A seismic section across the
Kertang structure clearly shows the
unconformity surface overlying a
sedimentary succession. The main
structure maps show a horst block
with large offset faults west and east
of the structure.
The MMU shows a large structural
closure with 1,400 metres to structural
spillpoint and which covers an area of
220 km2 to the lowest closing contour.
There is a large gas cloud present over
the structure which significantly derisks the play.
There is significant sediment
deposited above the MMU overlying
the Kertang structure which forms
the overall seal. This post MMU is
interpreted to be deep marine
hemipelagic sediment. Several of the
offset wells have encountered coals
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in Cycle I (Late Oligocene). The coals
are believed to be gas prone and the
Kertang structure will be charged
provided the coal Cycle I source rock
is present. Reservoir is expected to be
present and consists of lower coastal
plain (Cycle I), and upper shoreface
thin bedded sands (Cycle II).
We believe that all the elements of the
petroleum system are proven within
the North Luconia Province and within
the vicinity of the Kertang structure,
and therefore the Kertang structure is
one of the largest currently undrilled
structural prospects in Malaysia.

The region has a well-developed gas
infrastructure, and the Bintulu LNG
plant located onshore currently has
excess capacity due to a shortfall of
feedgas expected to continue in the
years ahead.
We have now fulfilled our joint
technical study commitments and
remain in active dialogue with
PETRONAS regarding the next stage of
the project.
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ITALY

2P Reserves

Production assets

Coro has a portfolio of development
and production assets in Italy,
operating six production concessions,
four exploration permits and six
exploration permit applications
through its wholly owned subsidiary
Apennine Energy S.p.A (“Apennine”).
Total combined production for 2019
was 12.8 MMscm (453 MMscf) (2018:
9.5 MMscm) derived from four gas
fields, namely Sillaro, Bezzecca,
Rapagnano and Casa Tiberi. In May
2019, Apennine signed an agreement
with Petrorep Italiana S.p.A to acquire
their 10% interest in the Bezzecca
field for consideration of €100k
($112k) to be paid by Petrorep to
Apennine as a contribution to future
rehabilitation costs for the field. The
transaction has an economic effective
date of 1 May 2019 and is subject
to approval by the Italian Ministry
of Economic Development. As of
the date of publishing this Annual
Report, transaction approval is still
pending from the Italian authorities.
Excluding the share of production
due to Petrorep, Coro’s production
entitlement for 2019 was 12.7 MMscm
(448 MMscf).
Production was generally stable from
all fields, albeit with expected decline
due to the natural depletion of the
fields. There was one unscheduled
shutdown on the Bezzecca field in
November due to the identification
of a leak in the pipeline connecting
the Bezzecca well to the Vitalba plant.
Costs to fix the leak and remediate
environmental damage are estimated
at $220k, with an insurance claim
currently being evaluated. Production
from the Bezzecca field was restored
in December. There was also a
planned shutdown of the Bezzecca

Asset

Sillaro

31 December
2018
(MMscm)

2P Reserves
Production
2019
(MMscm)

31 December
Revisions
2019
(MMscm)
(MMscm)

58.4

(5.1)

10.0

63.3

Bezzecca

63.1

(4.4)

7.3

66.0

Sant’Alberto

58.9

–

–

58.9

Rapagnano

15.1

(2.7)

13.4

25.8

Casa Tiberi

0.1

(0.6)

3.0

2.5

195.6

(12.8)

33.7

216.5

field in October for the 10-yearly
maintenance of the Vitalba gas plant.
2P reserves saw upward revisions in
2019 as shown in the table above. The
revisions for Sillaro and Rapagnano
were attributable to better than
expected reservoir performance
and were certified by CGG Services
(UK) Limited who were engaged to
provide an updated CPR for these
fields. Casa Tiberi reserves have
increased based on internal estimates
and are due to planned production
from the “D” layer, which will be
accessed through perforation of the
existing well at a lower level than the
current production layer. The change
in Bezzecca reserves reflects the
change in Coro’s equity percentage
discussed above.

Exploration assets

In 2019, Apennine submitted an
Environmental Impact Assessment
for the D.R 74.AP (Laura) concession
which was rejected by the Italian
Ministry of Environment in October
2019 due to significant environmental
and archaeological constraints on the
site. We have been advised that the
chances of overturning this decision
on appeal are low. Drilling within
12 nautical miles of the coastline
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remains prohibited following a new
law introduced in 2015 meaning
the Laura project would not have
been able to proceed without
changes to the law. Failure to secure
environmental approval for the
project, a process which is distinct
from the drilling ban in place, also
likely restricts our ability to obtain
compensation for the drilling ban
under the Energy Charter Treaty.
Without this course of action to
recover our investment in Laura,
an impairment charge has been
recorded of $853k to write down the
Laura assets to nil.

Disposal

As noted in the Statement from the
Chairman, the Financial Review,
and the notes to the financial
statements, a decision was taken
in 2019 to prioritise full divestment
of the Group’s Italian business,
and a binding conditional sale and
purchase agreement was signed
with Zenith Energy Ltd in December
2019. As a result, the Italian business is
recorded as a disposal group held for
sale in the Group’s balance sheet and
its results presented as discontinued
operations in the income statement.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
2019 saw us take significant
steps forward in the
execution of our strategy
of building an upstream oil
and gas business in South
East Asia.

Andrew Dennan
Non-Executive Director

We announced the acquisition of a 15%
non-operated interest in the Duyung
PSC in April 2019, funded by a €22.5m
Eurobond issue, and saw immediate
success at the drill-bit with the Q4
Duyung drilling campaign resulting
in a resource upgrade of 33 Bcf net to
Coro. Following the successful appraisal
of the Duyung PSC Mako gas field, we
decided to withdraw from the Bulu
acquisition post year-end due to an
unacceptable increase in the risks
inherent to the delivery of the project
including, inter alia, the change in
financial circumstances of the operator.
Accordingly, we are now well positioned
to carry Duyung forward to Final
Investment Decision once we secure a
signature of a gas sales agreement.

2019 RESULTS
The financial statements and
comparatives are now presented in
USD to bring Coro in line with the
majority of upstream oil and gas
companies operating in South East
Asia. Following a period of strategic
deliberation, the Board took the
decision in Q1 2019 to divest our Italian
business. As a result, in accordance
with IFRS 5 Non-current assets held
for sale and discontinued operations,
the assets and liabilities of the Italian
business have been classified as
a disposal group held for sale. The
Italian business represents a separate
geographical area of operation for the
Group and has therefore also been
treated as a discontinued operation
in the statement of comprehensive
income. The Group’s results for 2019
are therefore segmented between
continuing and discontinued
operations.
The 2019 loss before tax from
continuing operations was $7.9m (2018:
$4.5m). The increased loss was largely
driven by an increase in net finance
costs of $2.9m due to finance charges
on the Group’s Eurobond ($2.3m),
which was issued in April 2019, as well
as foreign exchange losses ($285k)
on cash held in United States dollars
(“USD”), which depreciated against the
British Pound Sterling (“GBP”) during
the year, resulting in unrealised losses
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recorded in the parent company which
uses GBP as its functional currency.
General and administrative expenses
remained comparable year-onyear. Within G&A costs, business
development expenditures increased
by $188k as a result of the Duyung
acquisition, renegotiation of the
acquisition terms for the Bulu PSC, and
the Italian disposal. We also continued
to evaluate numerous acquisition
opportunities in South East Asia which
were progressed to varying stages.
Corporate and compliance costs also
increased ($268k), reflecting a full year
of operation at our London head office
and an increased footprint in South East
Asia. Non-cash share based payments
increased $348k due to the resignation
of two Directors which triggered a full
and immediate vesting of their options
which accelerated the recognition
of the associated income statement
charge. The options were not exercised
and have now lapsed. Offsetting these
increases was the non-recurrence of
acquisition costs relating to business
combinations ($413k) and company
launch costs ($97k) which
were incurred in the prior year.
The 2019 loss before tax from
discontinued operations was $8.8m
(2018: loss before tax $9.0m). Coro’s
production entitlement increased
approximately 50% year-on-year from
8.5 MMscm to 12.7 MMscm. This was due
to the inclusion of the Rapagnano and
Casa Tiberi fields for a full year, following
acquisition of these fields from Sound
Energy plc in April 2018. We also had
higher facilities uptime in 2019, following
unplanned shutdowns in 2018 on the
Sillaro and Bezzecca fields. This resulted
in an increase in revenues of 30% in Euro
terms, with the benefit of increased
production partly offset by a reduction
in the average realised gas price in 2019
to €0.19/scm, compared to €0.22/scm
in 2018. After accounting for changes in
the EUR:USD exchange rate, revenue in
USD increased 24% year-on-year. Gross
margin (excluding deprecation) was
breakeven for the year (2018: gross profit
15%). This was due to the reduction in
gas prices mentioned above, higher
maintenance costs due to the scheduled
10-year maintenance of the Vitalba gas
plant ($240k) and unexpected pipeline
repairs at Bezzecca ($189k).
G&A costs from discontinued operations
were impacted by tangible steps we
took to reduce costs which resulted in
one-off charges in 2019. This included
closing our Rome office, reducing our
Coro Energy PLC
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full-time equivalent headcount by 33%
and merging our two Italian subsidiaries
to reduce compliance costs. The impact
of these actions was to increase G&A
costs in 2019 by approximately $350k
reflecting severance packages paid to
departing employees and professional
fees associated with the Group
reorganisation and merger. From 2020
onwards, the cost savings are estimated
at $500k per annum.
The loss from discontinued operations
was also impacted by impairment losses
of $6.6m. This included impairments
of goodwill ($4.3m) and tangible oil
and gas assets ($585k) following an
impairment test on 31 March 2019,
the date the Italian business was
designated as a disposal group held for
sale. Additional specific impairments
of oil and gas assets were recorded
at year-end ($84k). We also impaired
the remaining carrying value of the
Laura field ($853k), after the Italian
authorities rejected our Environmental
Impact Assessment in October 2019
due to ecological and archaeological
concerns. The Group has decided not
to appeal this decision, which has a low
chance of success. There also remains
a ban on drilling within 12 miles of the
coastline which impacts Laura. The
Group was previously considering its
options for legal remedy from the Italian
government under the Energy Charter
Treaty due to the imposition of this
drilling ban in 2015. However, an inability
to get environmental approval for the
project greatly reduces the Group's
chances of success in any legal action
since a positive decision by the Ministry
of Environment would have been a
requirement to proceed with the field
development, regardless of the separate

drilling ban. Refer to further discussion
in note 2e of the financial statements.
Finally, further IFRS 5 impairments
totalling $726k were recorded when the
carrying value of the disposal group was
compared to its fair value, calculated
with reference to expected sale
proceeds to be received on disposal.

2019 FINANCIAL POSITION
We completed the acquisition of a 15%
interest in the Duyung PSC in April
2019 for total consideration of $13.7m,
comprising $2.95m in cash and $1.85m
in Coro shares priced at 2.35 pence per
new share, plus $10.5m which was
paid into the PSC vehicle as partial
funding for the 2019 drilling programme
(of which $8.9m represented Coro's
carry of the other partners). The initial
consideration paid was recorded within
intangible exploration and evaluation
(“E&E”) assets in the Group’s balance
sheet. Coro’s share of subsequent
expenditures of the Duyung venture
are capitalised as intangible E&E assets
where the criteria for capitalisation
are met, or are otherwise expensed as
G&A costs in the income statement.
A payable of $547k is recorded in the
closing balance sheet reflecting Coro’s
share of 2019 expenditures not yet paid
to the venture.
In April 2019, the Group successfully
completed the issue of €22.5m three
year Eurobonds with attached warrants
to key institutional investors. The bonds
were issued in two equal tranches
A and B, ranking pari passu, with Tranche
A paying an annual 5% cash coupon
and Tranche B accruing interest at 5%
per annum payable on redemption.
The bonds were issued at 85% of par
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value, with a 7% commission paid on
this subscription price, resulting in net
proceeds of €17.6m ($19.7m) before other
transaction costs of €0.4m ($0.5m).
Net assets of the Italian business,
treated as a disposal group held for
sale, totalled $2.0m at year-end
following large write-downs recorded in
2019, as discussed above.

GOING CONCERN
The Group ended 2019 with a cash
balance of $6.4m (excluding cash
held in the disposal group), and
the Group and Company financial
statements have been prepared
under the going concern assumption.
As outlined in the Chairman's
Statement, the Board have taken
significant steps in 2020 to reduce the
Group's cost base to help us navigate
the COVID-19 pandemic and associated
impacts on the macro economic
environment. While significant cost
savings have been identified and
implemented, additional funds will still
need to be raised to enable the Group to
remain in operation for the foreseeable
future. At the date of preparing these
financial statements, this funding has
not been secured. This represents a
material uncertainty regarding the
ability of the Group to continue as a
going concern, and the Auditors' Report
includes an Emphasis of Matter which
references this. Refer to note 2c of the
financial statements.

Andrew Dennan
Non-Executive Director
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MANAGING RISK
OUR APPROACH TO RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board of Directors recognises that an effective risk management framework is essential to safeguard the Group’s
assets and enable it to meet its strategic objectives. The Board takes overall responsibility for identification and
mitigation of risks, while the Audit Committee has delegated responsibility for reviewing and monitoring the internal
control and risk management systems on which the Group is reliant. In the Board’s judgement, the following principal
risks represent the biggest threat to the ability of the Group to deliver on its strategy.

Strategic Risks
Risk

Description and Impact

Mitigation

Failure to
identify
suitable M&A
opportunities
and/or failure
to successfully
execute M&A

The Group’s strategy is to build an E&P business focused on the
South East Asian market. To deliver on this strategy, the Group
needs to identify and execute value-accretive acquisitions in
the region, and is actively engaged in evaluation of individual
assets as well as asset portfolios. There is a risk that the Group
fails to identify suitable acquisition targets, or that deals
cannot be closed on assets deemed to be attractive. Failure to
identify and/or close M&A opportunities could lead to a loss of
confidence in the Group’s management resulting in poor share
price performance and tightening of funding availability, as
well as depleting available cash balances through unsuccessful
business development spend.

The Group mitigates this risk through
employing appropriately skilled
financial, technical and operational
staff and consultants with experience
in the sector in SE Asia and a wellestablished network. Potential
opportunities are evaluated based on
a range of criteria both financial and
non-financial to ensure only valueaccretive assets suitable for the Coro
business are acquired.

Availability of
funding

In the future the Group will need to raise additional funds
to implement its strategy. The ability of the Group to raise
funds will depend on factors not wholly within the control of
management, including general market sentiment around
the oil and gas industry, which is becoming increasingly
negative due to climate change concerns. As a result, there
can be no assurance that the required funding will be available
on favourable terms, if at all. Failure to raise required funds
could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business,
operating results and financial condition, and may result in
erosion of value for investors.

The Group seeks to mitigate this risk
through prudent management of costs
and rigorous evaluation of investment
opportunities to ensure these will be
attractive to investors in the debt and
capital markets. We have a preference
for gas over oil, which we see as a more
sustainable fuel for the future.

Commodity
prices

The Group is exposed to risks arising from fluctuations in the
demand for, and price of, hydrocarbons. Oil and gas prices
depend on numerous factors over which the Group does
not have any control, including global supply, international
economic trends (such as the current downturn caused
by COVID-19), currency exchange fluctuations, inflation,
consumption patterns and global or regional political events.
This risk impacts revenues from the Group’s existing asset
portfolio in Italy (prior to disposal), projects under development
including the Duyung PSC, and evaluation of business
development opportunities where commerciality depends on
assumptions around future commodity prices.

For assets in the production phase,
the Group mitigates this risk through
entering into fixed price gas sales
agreements where commercially
acceptable. In terms of evaluating
and sanctioning new investments,
the Group adopts a conservative price
forecast to ensure capital is allocated to
projects with robust economics, even in
lower commodity price environments.

Operational Risks
Risk

Description and Impact

Mitigation

Oil and gas
exploration and
production risks

The success of Coro will depend on its ability to find, develop,
and produce oil and gas that is economically recoverable.
Through this value chain, the business is exposed to a wide
variety of risks, including failure to locate hydrocarbons,
changes to reserve estimates or production volumes, variable
quality of hydrocarbons, weather impacts, facility malfunctions,
lack of access to appropriate skills or equipment and cost
overruns. Failure to effectively manage these risks could
lead to decreased cash generation, lower profitability and a
deterioration in the financial position of the Group.

The Group has extensive experience
operating its existing asset base in Italy,
as well as assets in South East Asia and
has the right mix of technical, financial
and operational skills necessary to
successfully find, develop and produce
oil and gas safely and economically.
In non-operated joint ventures such
as Duyung, the Group seeks to be an
active participant in the key activities
of the venture, to the extent possible
under joint operating agreements.
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Risk

Description and Impact

Mitigation

Health,
safety and
environmental
matters

Exploration, development and production of oil and gas
involves risks which may impact the health and safety of
personnel, the community and the environment. Industry-wide
operating risks include fire, explosions, blow outs, pipe failures,
abnormally pressured formations and environmental hazards
such as accidental spills or leakage of petroleum liquids, gas
leaks, ruptures, or discharge of toxic gases. Failure to manage
these risks could result in injury or loss of life, damage or
destruction of property and damage to the environment.
Losses or liabilities arising from such incidents could
significantly impact the Group’s financial results.

The Group operates its Italian assets
and mitigates these risks through
a focus on responsible operation,
ensuring close adherence to all
regulatory standards in respect of
HSE matters. This includes regular
inspection and maintenance of
all our gas production facilities. All
HSE activities are overseen by a
dedicated Board committee. Where
we are not operator of a venture,
we seek to take an active role in
joint venture management and
operating committees and work with
the operators to foster a culture of
responsible asset stewardship.

Changes to law,
regulations or
government
policy and
emerging
market risk

Changes in law, regulations and/or government policy may
adversely affect Coro’s business. Examples include changes
to land access or the introduction of legislation that restricts
or inhibits exploration, development and production of
hydrocarbons. Similarly, changes to direct or indirect tax
legislation may have an adverse impact on the Group’s
profitability, net assets and cash flow. Further, the Group has
expanded its footprint in South East Asia where countries
generally exhibit emerging market characteristics such as less
established fiscal and monetary controls, laws, policies and
regulatory processes. The Group is exposed to the resultant risk
of being adversely affected by possible political or economic
instability in its countries of operation including, inter alia,
security risks, expropriation of assets, changes in mining or
investment policies, inconsistent interpretation of laws and
regulations including tax law, extreme fluctuations in currency
exchange rates and high rates of inflation. All of these factors
could materially adversely affect the Group’s business, results of
operations, financial condition or prospects.

To mitigate these risks, the Group
employs staff and professional advisers
with experience operating in all the
Group’s key territories and continuously
monitors political, legal and economic
developments in all its geographies.
Active dialogue is maintained with
local oil and gas regulatory authorities
in the Group’s areas of operation.

Alignment with
joint venture
partners

Exploration and development of oil and gas assets is commonly
undertaken with joint venture partners, and Coro is currently
party to a Joint Operating Agreement on the Duyung PSC.
We would also expect future asset acquisitions to involve joint
venture partners. While Joint Operating Agreements provide
for all partners to participate in the financial and operating
decisions of the ventures, there is a risk that the priorities of
our joint venture partners will not be aligned with our own.
This could lead to delays in exploration and development of
projects, resulting in variability in the Group’s forecast cash
flows and profitability. There are also risks associated with the
continuing ability of joint venture partners to fund their share of
expenditures.

The Group seeks to mitigate this risk
through appropriate diligence on
potential partners prior to investing
in a venture, as well as through active
participation in the key decisions of
each project to the extent permitted by
joint operating agreements.

Dependence on
key personnel

The future performance of the Group will, to a significant extent,
be dependent on its ability to retain the services and personal
connections or contacts of key personnel and to attract, recruit,
motivate and retain other suitably skilled, qualified and industry
experienced candidates to form a high-calibre management
team. Such key personnel are expected to play an important
role in the development and growth of the Group, in particular
by maintaining good business relationships with regulatory and
governmental departments and essential partners, contractors
and suppliers. The loss of the services of any key personnel
may have a material adverse effect on the business, operations,
relationships and/or prospects of the Group.

The Group seeks to mitigate this
risk through structuring appropriate
incentive packages for key executives
and staff, as well as providing a
challenging and enjoyable work
environment.
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To mitigate the loss of executives
announced post year-end, the
Company's Non-Executive Directors
are supporting the Group's executive
functions as required to ensure
continuity and continued ability to
execute the Group's strategy.
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POST BALANCE
SHEET EVENTS
Bulu PSC

On 31 January 2020, the decision
was taken not to proceed with the
acquisition of a 42.5% interest in the
Bulu PSC, offshore Indonesia.
Following the successful drilling
campaign on the Duyung PSC in
Q4 2019, together with the growing
number of M&A opportunities in the
region, Coro can be selective about
the assets it chooses to bring into
its portfolio. In that context, with
government regulatory approvals still
outstanding and concerns around the
future of the operating partner, the
potential changes to the composition
of the Bulu partnership group and
the possibility of new requirements
being introduced in satisfying the
Plan of Development at Bulu, the
Board viewed the risks associated
with the Bulu acquisition from
Coro's perspective had significantly
increased.
The long stop date for completion
of the acquisition was 2 December
2019. Accordingly, we elected to let
the acquisition lapse in accordance
with the terms of the acquisition
agreement.
The consideration for the acquisition
was to be satisfied through total
payments, in tranches, of $6.9m in
cash, together with an additional
$1.0m in working capital adjustments
to AWE Limited. In addition, the
Company was to pay an additional
$4.0m by way of the issue of new
Coro ordinary shares
to Hyoil (Bulu) Pte Ltd.
With the acquisition not proceeding,
this consideration will no longer
be paid, preserving the Croup's
cash balances to progress other
opportunities.
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COVID-19

COVID-19 has had limited direct
impact on Coro’s assets in South East
Asia but the disposal of the Group's
Italian assets is anticipated to be
delayed due to delays in obtaining the
necessary governmental approvals.
Production operations in Italy have been
unaffected to date, with the assets being
managed through a combination of
on-site working within social distancing
guidelines or remote oversight, with
all appropriate safety procedures
remaining in place to protect staff
and local communities. While our
operational capability is largely
unaffected, we have taken the decision
to temporarily suspend production on
unprofitable fields as set out in the
Chairman's Statement. The fields will
continue to be maintained to allow the
swift resumption of production when
external conditions improve.

Directorate Changes

As explained further in the Chairman's
Statement, given the unprecedented
oil price decline in Q1 2020, inability to
travel due to the COVID-19 pandemic
and related market changes,
including the short term downturn
in regional business development
transactions, the Company decided
to immediately reduce its executive
staffing and associated cost base.
James Menzies, the Company's former
CEO, left the Company effective 1 April
2020. Former CFO, Andrew Dennan,
stepped down from his executive
role but remains with the Company
as a Non-Executive Director. Nick
Cooper, who was appointed as a NonExecutive Director on 15 January 2020,
agreed to step down effective 1 April
2020.

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT
UNDER SECTION 172 (1)
OF THE COMPANIES
ACT 2006
Section 172 (1) of the Companies Act
obliges the Directors to promote
the success of the Company for the
benefit of the Company’s members
as a whole.
This section specifies that the
Directors must act in good faith
when promoting the success of the
Company and in doing so have regard
(amongst other things) to:
a. the likely consequences of any
decision in the long term,
b. the interests of the Company’s
employees,
c. the need to foster the Company’s
business relationship with
suppliers, customers and others,
d. the impact of the Company’s
operations on the community and
environment,
e. the desirability of the Company
maintaining a reputation for high
standards of business conduct,
and
f.

the need to act fairly as between
members of the Company.

The Board of Directors is collectively
responsible for formulating the
Company’s strategy, which is to
become a mid-tier, South East Asiafocused exploration and production
company as outlined in detail on
pages 8 to 9.
Some key decisions were taken by the
Board in 2019 which were aimed to
deliver on this strategy. This included:
•

Acquisition of a 15% interest
in the Duyung PSC (see
page 10): The Company was
able to secure its interest on
commercially favourable terms
when considering acquisition
price per MMbtu of the project.
Following a successful appraisal
drilling campaign in Q4 2019,
the economics of the project
are attractive and significant
incremental value is expected
to be unlocked as the Duyung
partners move the project toward
FID.

•

Disposal of Coro Europe (see
page 13): The Company’s legacy
Italian gas business has supported
our expansion into South East
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Asia through providing internal
technical expertise and an
operational track record. However,
the Directors do not see the
same opportunities for growth in
Italy as those that exist in South
East Asia. As a result, the Board
of Directors took the decision
during the first half of 2019 to
prioritise full divestment of the
Italian business, and a binding,
conditional Share Purchase
Agreement was subsequently
executed with Zenith Energy Ltd
in December 2019. The Directors
believe that disposal of our Italian
business will improve our ability
to execute our strategic objectives
in South East Asia, where we see
greater opportunity to capture
value and scale. The Directors
believe these key strategic
decisions will generate value
for our shareholders in the long
term through maximising the
Company’s future profitability. In
executing the Company’s strategy,
the Directors remain focused on
responsible and ethical business
practices, and the Company strives
to be a responsible corporate
citizen in all its territories of
operation. This includes strict
adherence to all environment

laws and regulation in our areas
of operation. Further detail on the
Company’s commitments and
track record are included in the
Corporate Governance Report
which begins on page 20.
The Board places equal importance
on all shareholders and strives
for transparent and effective
external communications, within
the regulatory confines of an
AIM-listed company. The primary
communication tool for regulatory
matters and matters of material
substance is through the Regulatory
News Service, (“RNS”). The Company’s
website is also updated regularly,
and provides further details on the
business as well as links to helpful
content such as our latest investor
presentations. We also hold regular
investor events which are open to
all shareholders and provide an
environment where shareholders
can interact with the Board and
management, ask questions and raise
their concerns.
Our employees are one of the
primary assets of our business and
will be critical to the future success
of the Company. First and foremost,
the Directors strive to ensure a safe
working environment for all its staff
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and contractors, and we are proud
of our safety achievements in 2019.
We also seek to reward employees
with remuneration packages which
align the interests of the Company
and its shareholders with those of
employees. We believe we have
achieved this through the award
of share options with a three year
vesting period which values mediumlong term performance over short
term achievements. Employees are
also provided with challenging work
and external training opportunities to
ensure their continual development.

Conclusion

The Directors believe they have acted
in the way they consider most likely to
promote the success of the Company
for the benefit of its members as a
whole, as required by Section 172 (1) of
the Companies Act 2006.
This Strategic Report was approved
by the Board on 23 April 2020 and
signed on its behalf by:

James Parsons
Non-Executive Chairman
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
CHAIRMAN’S CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT
As Chairman of the Company, it is
my responsibility to work with my
fellow Board members to ensure
that the Company embraces the
highest standards of corporate
governance and to manage the Board
in the best interests of our many
stakeholders. The Board shares my
belief that practising good corporate
governance is essential for building a
successful and sustainable business,
and our commitment to good
corporate governance has allowed us

to build a healthy corporate culture
throughout the organisation.
The Company adopts the Quoted
Companies Alliance Corporate
Governance Code (2018) (the "QCA
Code") which it still believes to be
the most appropriate recognised
governance code for Coro. We report
our compliance with the QCA Code
on the Company’s website and in this
Annual Report.
The Company is still in the early
stages of execution of its growth
strategy in South East Asia, but
reiterates its commitment to
responsible and ethical business
practices when we make any

business decisions, at both Board
and operational levels. This is
particularly important to us as an
acquisitive business; and our culture
is something that we maintain and
closely monitor.
Finally, the importance of engaging
with our shareholders continues,
and the Board strives to ensure that
there are numerous opportunities
for investors to engage with both the
Board and executive team.

James Parsons
Non-Executive Chairman

QCA CODE – APPLICATION, PRINCIPLES AND DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS
The Board of Directors of the Company recognises the importance of corporate governance and applies the QCA Code,
which we believe is the most appropriate recognised governance code for a company of our size with shares admitted
to trading on the Alternative Investment Market (“AIM”) of the London Stock Exchange. The QCA Code provides the
Company with the framework to help ensure that a strong level of governance is maintained, enabling the Company
to embed the governance culture that exists within the organisation as part of building a successful and sustainable
business for all its stakeholders.
The QCA Code has ten principles of corporate governance that the Company has committed to apply within the
foundations of the business, as summarised below. Further disclosures regarding the Company’s application of the QCA
Code can be found on the Company’s website.
Principles

Coro response

Establish a strategy and business model
which promote long-term value for
shareholders

The Group’s strategy and business model are outlined on page 7 to 9.

Seek to understand and meet
shareholder needs and expectations

The Group engages with shareholders regularly through its Regulatory
News Flow, periodic online Question & Answer forums ("Join the Chorus"),
Annual General Meetings and regular presentations at investor evenings.

Take into account wider stakeholder
and social responsibilities and
their implications for long-term success

The Group seeks to be a responsible corporate citizen in all its territories
of operation and has an “open door” policy internally where employees
can raise opinions and concerns to management. We are committed
to operating our business according to the highest international safety
and environmental standards. We strive to deliver lasting benefit to
the communities and environments where we work as well as our
shareholders, contractors and employees.

Embed effective risk management,
considering both opportunities and
threats, throughout the organisation

The Group has an effective risk management framework, which is
subject to oversight by the Audit Committee. See further details on page
16.

Maintain the Board as a well-functioning
balanced team led by the Chair

Refer to further discussion of the Board structure, composition and
processes on page 24.
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Principles

Coro response

Ensure that between them the
Directors have the necessary up-to-date
experience, skills and capabilities

The complementary skills and experience of our Board and management
team are included on pages 22 to 23.

Evaluate Board performance based on
clear and relevant objectives, seeking
continuous improvement

Refer to a discussion of Board evaluation on page 26.

Promote a corporate culture that is
based on ethical values and behaviours

The Group’s employees are bound by a Code of Conduct which sets forth
the standards expected by the Company. This includes a zero-tolerance
approach to bribery and corruption and a commitment on the part of
all employees to a high level of honest, care, fair dealing and integrity
in the conduct of Coro’s business activities. A Whistleblower Policy is in
place to provide a framework for employees to call out unethical or illegal
behaviour.

Maintain governance structures and
processes that are fit for purpose and
support good decision-making by the
Board

Refer to further discussion of the Group’s governance structures,
including matters reserved for the Board, on page 24.

Communicate how the Company
is governed and is performing
by maintaining a dialogue with
shareholders and other relevant
stakeholders

The Group’s financial and operational performance are summarised
in the Annual Report and the Interim Report, with regular updates
provided to stakeholders in other forums through the year, including
press releases, investor events and regular updates to the Group’s
website.

Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2019
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT

James Parsons
Non-Executive Chairman

Andrew Dennan
Non-Executive Director

Marco Fumagalli
Non-Executive Director

James was recently appointed
Executive Chairman of Regency
Mines plc, prior to which he
held the role of Chief Executive
Officer at Sound Energy plc
since 2012. James started his
career with the Royal Dutch
Shell group in 1994 and spent
12 years with Shell working in
Brazil, the Dominican Republic,
Scandinavia, the Netherlands
and London.

Andrew has many years’
experience unlocking
growth across AIM-listed
companies as a corporate
financier and investment
manager. Throughout his
career he has been involved
in stockbroking and asset
management in prominent
roles leading proprietary
investment decisions, capital
raising, risk oversight and
portfolio management. He
has worked closely for many
years with key members of the
Board and brings a wealth of
capital markets and corporate
transaction experience to the
team.

Marco is a Founding Partner
at Continental Investment
Partners SA, a Swiss-based fund
and cornerstone shareholder
in Sound Energy plc and Echo
Energy plc. Marco is a wellknown Italian businessman
who was a former Group
Partner at 3i.

Leading up to 2006 (when he
left Shell to join Inter Pipeline
Fund), James held various
positions in Shell’s exploration
and production business,
latterly as Vice President
Finance – New Business. He
is a qualified accountant and
has a BA Honours in Business
Economics.
James is also the Non-Executive
Chairman of Echo Energy plc.
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Marco is a qualified accountant
and holds a degree in Business
Administration from Bocconi
University in Milan. He is acting
Chairman and a Non-Executive
Director of Sound Energy plc
and Non-Executive Director of
Echo Energy plc.

Andrew is currently a
Non-Executive Director of
Nu Oil & Gas plc and Chief
Executive Officer of Ascent
Resources plc.
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Fiona MacAulay
Non-Executive Director

Fiona has over 30 years of
experience in the oil and gas
industry and is the Former
Chief Operating Officer
and Technical Director of
Rockhopper Exploration
Plc and former CEO of Echo
Energy plc.
A Chartered Geologist, Fiona
started her career with Mobil
North Sea Limited in 1985 and
has subsequently held senior
roles in a number of leading
oil and gas firms, including
Amerada Hess and BG. She has
held the position of European
President of the American
Association of Petroleum
Geologist and sits on the
Geological Society Investment
Committee.
Fiona is also Non-Executive
Chair of Independent Oil &
Gas PLC and a Non-Executive
Director of Ferrexpo PLC and
EPI Group Ltd.

Leonardo Salvadori
Managing Director
(non-Board seat)

Leonardo has over 30 years
of international exploration,
business development
and general management
experience.
He has worked in Libya and
Norway as an explorationist and
in Italy with exploration and
new ventures roles, focusing on
international asset evaluations,
portfolio development and
corporate acquisitions, with a
specific focus on the Middle
East, Africa, Asia and North Sea.
From 2001 to 2006 Mr
Salvadori headed up large
exploration departments
operated by Eni in Indonesia
and Egypt. In 2006, he left
ENI to join Dana Gas Egypt,
where he worked for nine
years covering top managerial
roles in exploration, business
development and general
management.
In November 2015 Mr Salvadori
joined Apennine Energy SpA.

Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2019
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK
ROLE OF THE BOARD
The Group continues to evolve and
aspires to grow initially through
acquisition, so it is critical that the
Group’s governance and control
structure is robust, clearly defined
and communicated. The Board of
Directors is responsible for the overall
management and performance of
the Group and operates within a
framework of prudent and effective
controls which enables risk to be
assessed and managed. It is also
collectively responsible for the
success of the Group and operates
within a framework of reserved
matters, delegations and assurance.

GOVERNANCE
STRUCTURE
During 2019, the Board was
comprised of a Non-Executive
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Financial Officer and two NonExecutive Directors, of which one
was independent. The Board has
significant industry, financial, public
markets and governance experience,
possessing the necessary mix of
experience, skills, personal qualities
and capabilities to deliver on the
Group’s strategy for the benefit of
shareholders.
Post year-end, as further outlined in
the Chairman's Statement, James
Menzies' (former CEO) employment
with the Company was terminated
while Andrew Dennan stepped from
CFO to a Non-Executive Director role.
Following these changes, the Board
now consists of James Parsons,
Andrew Dennan, Marco Fumagalli
and Fiona MacAulay in the roles
of Non-Executive Chairman, NonExecutive Director, Non-Executive
Director and Independent NonExecutive Director respectively and the
composition of the Company’s audit
and remuneration committees will be
unchanged. When external conditions
improve, Executive Directors will
be appointed to re-energise Coro’s
regional business development
activities.
Each of the Non-Executive Directors
will provide support to the Company’s
executive management functions
where required and appropriate to
do so. Peter Christie, the Company’s
existing Group Financial Controller,
will now report directly to the Coro
Board, taking on the additional
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executive duties as Interim CFO.
Leonardo Salvadori, Managing
Director of Italy, will continue to
report directly to the Coro Board and
will also take on additional executive
duties across South East Asia.
The Board has full confidence that
this structure will deliver continuity
and protect and maintain the value
of the Company’s asset base during
these challenging conditions.

Directors

•

Internal Controls
(ensuring maintenance of a
sound system of internal control
and management);

•

Contracts
(major capital contracts; contracts
which are material or strategic;
major investments or any
acquisitions/disposals);

•

Communications
(approval or resolutions and
documentation put forward to
shareholders);

•

Board Membership and
Other Appointments;

•

Remuneration
(determining the remuneration
policy for directors, senior execs
and non-executive directors,
introduction of new share
incentive plans, changes to
existing plans);

•

Corporate Governance Matters
(review of the Group’s overall
corporate governance
arrangements);

•

Policies
(approval of Group policies,
including the share dealing code);

•

Other
(litigation involving £5m and
over or otherwise material
to the Group; approval of the
appointment of professional
advisers; and approval of overall
levels of insurance for the Group).

MATTERS RESERVED
FOR THE BOARD
The Board retains full and effective
control over the Group and is
responsible for the Group’s strategy
and key financial and compliance
issues. There are certain matters that
are reserved for the Board which are
reviewed on an annual basis, and they
include but are not limited to:
•

Strategy and Management
(approval of strategic aims
and objectives; approval of the
Group’s annual operating and
capital expenditure budgets and
changes; decision to cease to
operate all or any material part of
the Group’s business);

•

Structure and Capital
(major changes to the Group’s
corporate structure; any change
to the Company’s listing);

•

Financial Reporting and Controls
(approval of: financial results;
annual reports and accounts;
dividend policy and declaration of
any dividend; significant changes
in accounting policies/practice;
treasury policies);

BOARD COMPOSITION

100%

Non-Executive Directors
During 2019, the composition was 40%
Executive Directors and 60% Non-Executive
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BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has formed three sub-committees: namely the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
HSE Committee, with delegated responsibility to monitor their respective areas and to report back to the full Board.
The Committees operate under clearly defined terms of reference which are kept under review to ensure proper
functioning of the Committees and effective application of best practice. The Directors' appointed to each Committee
are outlined below, with the HSE/Technical Committee supported by additional employees with the appropriate skills
and experience.

Board of Directors

Audit Committee

Remuneration Committee

HSE/Technical Committee

Marco Fumagalli
Chairman

James Parsons
Chairman

Fiona MacAulay
Chairman

Fiona MacAulay
Member

Marco Fumagalli
Member
Fiona MacAulay
Member

BOARD MEETING ATTENDANCE
Year ended 31 December 2019

Board
(scheduled)

Board
(ad hoc*)

Audit
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

HSE Committee

Number of meetings held

5

7

2

3

5

James Parsons

5

7

–

3

–

James Menzies

5

7

–

–

–

Andrew Dennan1

3

4

–

–

–

Marco Fumagalli

5

7

2

3

–

Fiona MacAulay

5

7

2

3

5

Ilham Habibie2

1

3

–

–

–

*

Ad hoc meetings are called for specific matters, generally of a more administrative nature not requiring full Board attendance.

1.

Andrew Dennan was appointed to the Board on 22 March 2019.

2.

Ilham Habibie resigned from the Board on 1 March 2019.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK
BOARD EVALUATION

BOARD REPORTS

The Directors consider seriously
the effectiveness of the Board,
its Committees and individual
performance.

Audit Committee

The Board generally meets formally
five times a year with ad hoc
Board meetings as the business
demands. There is a strong flow
of communication between
the Directors and the Executive
management team.

Scope and Responsibilities:

Board meeting agendas are set in
consultation with the management
team and the Chairman, with
consideration being given to both
standing agenda items and the
strategic and operational needs
of the business. Comprehensive
board papers are circulated well
in advance of meetings, giving
Directors ample time to review the
documentation and enabling an
effective meeting. Resulting actions
are tracked for appropriate delivery
and follow up. The Directors have a
broad knowledge of the business and
understand their responsibilities as
directors of a UK company quoted on
AIM.
The Company’s Nomad provides
annual boardroom training as well as
initial training as part of a Director’s
onboarding. The Company Secretary
helps keep the Board up-to-date
with developments in corporate
governance and liaises with the
Nomad on areas of AIM requirements.
The Company Secretary has frequent
communication with both the
Chairman and management team
and is available to other members of
the Board as required. The Directors
also have access to the Company’s
auditors and lawyers as and when
required, and the Directors are able,
at the Company’s expense, to obtain
advice from other external advisers if
required.
The Board is still relatively newly
formed, and at this stage it is too
soon to conduct a formal review
of effectiveness. However, it is
recognised that in order to meet
the requirements of the QCA Code
a process needs to be considered
in the short to medium term. In
the meantime, the Directors are
committed to ongoing, informal
review of the functioning of the Board
to ensure it is meeting its objectives,
as evidenced by the Board changes
announced at the end of Q1 2020.

26

The Audit Committee comprises
Marco Fumagalli (Chairman) and
Fiona MacAulay.
The Audit Committee is mainly
responsible for the oversight of
financial reporting in accordance
with regulatory and statutory
requirements and for the review
and monitoring of the Group’s
internal financial control and
risk management systems. The
Committee meets a minimum of
twice a year.

2019 Activities:
•

Reviewed and approved the
Group’s 2018 Annual Report and
2019 Interim Report.

•

Reviewed the independence
and competence of the Group’s
auditor, PKF Littlejohn LLP
("PFK") and recommended their
reappointment.

2020 Agenda:
•

Scheduled and held an additional
meeting in January 2020 to review
the 2019 audit plan presented by
PKF and to review the Group’s risk
management frameworks.

•

Review the updated and amended
QCA Code’s Audit Committee
Guide and implement the
recommendations.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee
comprises Non-Executive Directors
James Parsons (Chairman), Fiona
MacAulay and Marco Fumagalli.
The Committee generally meets
twice a year and is responsible
for making recommendations to
the Board of Directors on senior
executives’ remuneration. At present,
the Company does not have a
Nomination Committee so the
Remuneration Committee also carries
out the functions of the Nomination
Committee, as and when required.

2019 Activities:
•

Reviewed and approved the
2018 bonus awards and 2019
salary increases for Directors and
management.

•

Reviewed the Group’s long-term
incentive structures.

HSE/Technical Committee

The HSE/Technical Committee
comprises Fiona MacAulay
(Chairman). A new Committee
member, Marco Santucci, a
production and development adviser
to Apennine Energy S.p.A, was
appointed to the Committee on 12
March 2019.
Paramount to Coro Energy’s ability
to pursue its strategic priorities is
a safe workplace and a culture of
"safety ﬁrst". The Company regards
environmental awareness and
sustainability as key strengths in
planning and carrying out business
activities.
Coro’s daily operations are conducted
in a way that adheres to these
principles and management is
committed to their continuous
improvement. While growing from
exploration roots, the Company
has strived to continually improve
underlying safety performance.
The Company has adopted a
Health, Safety and Environment
Management System which provides
for a series of procedures and routine
checks (including periodical audits) to
ensure compliance with all legal and
regulatory requirements and best
practices in this area.
In 2019, Coro maintained its
outstanding occupational health,
safety and environmental track record
and only one near miss to report.
During 2019 the total man-hours
amounted to 47,110 with zero LTIs
recorded.

2019 Activities:
•

An HSE plan was prepared, noting
areas of improvement.

•

Regular management site visits
were held with reports submitted
to the Committee following each
visit.

•

Managed routine safety
inspections, safety audits and
renewal of safety certifications.

•

Completion of a 10-year
maintenance programme at the
Vitalba site.

•

Implementation of improved
housekeeping and waste disposal
systems at well sites.

•

Closing of approximately 90% of
identified HSE hazards during
the year.
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HSE REPORT

During 2019, the Group operated four
producing gas fields in Italy – Sillaro,
Bezzecca, Rapagnano and Casa Tiberi.
Key activities undertaken in 2019
included:
•

10-year maintenance of the Vitalba
treatment plant, which processes
gas from the Bezzecca field.

•

Emergency repairs to the pipeline
between Bezzecca and Vitalba
following identification of a leak.

•

Upgrade of water storage system at
Casa Tiberi.

•

2-year maintenance activity at Casa
Tiberi.

•

2-year maintenance activity at
Sillaro.

•

Annual maintenance activity of
dehydration processing equipment
at Rapagnano.

•

Nitrogen bull-heading operation at
the Vitalba-1 well.

The total man-hours worked in 2019 was 47,110, with key HSE statistics recorded
in four main categories:
3) Leading Indicators

1) Man-hours Worked
Company

26,067

HSE Inspections

Contractors

21,043

HSE Audits

12

Total Manhours

47,110

HSE Meetings

20

HSE Inductions

2) Lagging Indicators
Fatality

0

Lost Time Injury
(LTI)

0

Restricted Work Case
(RWC)

0

Medical
Treatment Case
(MTC)

0

First Aid Case
(FAC)

0

Property Damage

0

Environmental Incident

3
0

•

Inspection and maintenance of
pipes stock.

•

Completed renewal of ISO14001
and OHSAS18001 certifications.

Road Traffic Accident
(RTA)

•

Updated the Company Risk
Assessment Document,
including various instrumental
measurements at the production
sites and the office, in accordance
with Italian regulations.

Near Miss

1

HiPo (High
potential incidents)

1

•

•

Completed the integration of HSE
procedures following the merger
of our two Italian subsidiaries,
Apennine Energy SpA and
Northsun Italia SpA

Lost Workdays

0

Emergency Drills
TBTs
Training Hours
SHOC Cards

294

692
7
20
358
2

JSAs

19

Management Tours

19

4) Environmental Data
Diesel Consumed (mc)

24.2

Water Consumed (mc)

222.0

Mud Cuttings (mc)

0.0

Non-Hazardous Waste
(ton)

4,592

Hazardous Waste (ton)

3.15

Instrumentation Gas
(mc)

8,180

Electrical Energy (MWh)

123.0

Coro is proud of its HSE achievements, with zero LTI’s placing us ahead of
industry averages. However, the instance of one near miss indicates the need to
avoid complacency.

Updated our systems for ensuring
GDPR compliance.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Remuneration Committee recognises the importance of attracting, retaining and motivating talent within the
boardroom and the wider Executive team to ensure the success of the Company.
The Remuneration Committee is responsible for reviewing and determining compensation arrangements for
all Directors and senior executives. The Committee considers the appropriateness of the nature and amount of
emoluments of such officers on a periodic basis by reference to relevant employment market conditions with the
overall objective of ensuring maximum stakeholder beneﬁt from the retention of a high-quality Board and senior
Executive team.
The Company’s Board and Executive team was refreshed in late 2017 and early 2018 in conjunction with a fundraise, AIM
readmission and the launch of a new strategy. Further changes were made in early 2020 due to the acute challenges
posed by the COVID-19 pandemic which will see the Group operate with a leaner management structure for the short
to medium term. Given the ongoing changes, the Remuneration Committee will continue to work to ensure that the
appropriate policies and framework are in place to reward staff for achievements and targets met, which in turn creates
value for stakeholders.

REMUNERATION PACKAGE – EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The Company offers a ﬁxed remuneration package of salary, pension and certain beneﬁts. In addition, Executive
Directors are eligible for a discretionary bonus award. Award of bonuses depends on performance against targets which
are agreed by the Committee. Discretionary bonuses for the CEO and CFO for the 2019 performance year were approved
by the Remuneration Committee in January 2020 and were settled in shares of the Company to preserve the Group’s
cash resources.

CHAIRMAN AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ FEES
The fees paid to the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors are set at a level both in line with the market and to
appropriately reward and retain individuals of a high calibre and are reviewed and approved by the Remuneration
Committee. The fees paid reﬂect the level of commitment and contribution to the Company. Fees are paid monthly in
cash and are inclusive of all Committee roles and responsibilities. In addition, Directors were awarded Company share
options in 2018 with a three-year vesting period to align the interests of Directors and shareholders.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS
The following remuneration table comprises Directors’ salaries and beneﬁts in kind that were payable to Directors who
held office during the year ended 31 December 2019:
Salary and
cash benefits
$'000

Bonus
$'000

Benefits
in kind
$'000

Pensions
$'000

Total
2019
$'000

Total
2018
$'000

447

89

5

17

558

584

179

36

1

7

224

–

–

–

–

–

–

301

James Parsons

83

–

–

–

83

80

Fiona MacAulay

51

–

–

–

51

47

Marco Fumagalli

Executive Directors
James Menzies
Andrew Dennan

1

Sara Edmondson 2
Non-Executive Directors

51

–

–

–

51

47

Ilham Habibie 3

9

–

–

–

9

41

David Garland

–

–

–

–

–

4

4

1.

Andrew Dennan was appointed as a director on 22 March 2019

2.

Sara Edmondson resigned as a director on 22 October 2018

3.

Ilham Habibie resigned as a director on 28 February 2019

4.

David Garland resigned as a director on 9 April 2018
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SHARE BASED PAYMENTS
Andrew Dennan was granted 10m new share options during the year in recognition of his appointment to the Board.
There were no other new share options granted. The table below shows all outstanding share awards to the Directors.
All options have an exercise price of 4.38p per share and vest on the third anniversary of grant date. The total share
based payments expense recognised in respect of directors in 2019 was $616k (2018: $484k). For further details refer to
note 25 of the financial statements.
The number of share options held by the Directors in the current and prior year is set out below:
Options
held at
1 January
2019

Granted
during
the year

James Menzies

25,000,000

–

–

Sara Edmondson*

10,000,000

–

–

5,000,000

10,000,000

–

–

15,000,000

James Parsons

10,000,000

–

–

–

10,000,000

Fiona MacAulay

10,000,000

–

–

–

10,000,000

–

10,000,000

Exercised Lapsed/forfeited
during the year during the year

Options
held at
31 December
2019

Executive Directors

Andrew Dennan

–

25,000,000

(10,000,000)

–

Non-Executive Directors

Marco Fumagalli

10,000,000

–

–

Ilham Habibie †

10,000,000

–

–

David Garland*

2,000,000

–

–

*

Resigned in 2018

†

Resigned in 2019

(10,000,000)
–

–
2,000,000

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SHARES
Directors and their connected persons had the following interests in shares of the Company at 31 December 2019:

Name of Director

No. of shares at
31 December
2019

James Menzies

7,407,839

1,712,576

Andrew Dennan

3,123,830

1,500,000

James Parsons

1,729,226

584,150

–

–

Marco Fumagalli 1
1.

No. of shares at
31 December
2018

Marco Fumagalli holds no Ordinary Shares directly. Mr Fumagalli holds a 25% interest in Continental Investment Partners S.A (“Continental”)
which has 12,336,561 Ordinary Shares. In addition, Mr Fumagalli is a director of and holds a 1.82% interest in CIP Merchant Capital Limited
which owns 150,684,929 shares in the Company.

This Remuneration Report was approved by the Board of Directors on 23 April 2020 and signed on its behalf by:

James Parsons
Non-Executive Chairman
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The Directors present their Annual
Report and the audited Group and
Company financial statements of
Coro Energy plc for the year ended
31 December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
Coro Energy plc is an AIM-listed oil
and gas exploration and production
company. The Group has an
ambitious growth strategy focused
on the South East Asian market and
completed the acquisition of its first
asset in the region during 2019, a 15%
interest in the Duyung Production
Sharing Contract.
The Company, through its wholly
owned subsidiaries, has an asset
portfolio in Italy situated on the east
coast and in the Po Valley region. In
2019, the Board took the decision to
prioritise full divestment of our Italian
business and, as a result, the business
has been classified as a disposal
group held for sale and presented
as a discontinued operation in the
financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

DIRECTORS’ AND
OFFICERS’ INDEMNITY
INSURANCE
The Group has made qualifying thirdparty indemnity provisions for the
benefit of its Directors and officers.
These were made during the previous
year and renewed post year-end and
remain in force at the date of this
report.

PROVISION OF
INFORMATION TO
AUDITOR
So far as each of the Directors is aware
at the time this report is approved:
•

there is no relevant audit
information of which the
Company’s auditor is unaware;
and

•

the Directors have taken all steps
that they ought to have taken to
make themselves aware of any
relevant audit information and to
establish that the auditor is aware
of that information.

The Group changed its presentation
currency to United States dollars
in 2019 which brings it in line with
the majority of other upstream oil
and gas exploration and production
companies operating in South East
Asia. The Group made a net loss
after tax of $16.6m (2018: loss $11.7m)
which comprised a loss after tax from
continuing operations of $7.9m (2018:
loss from continuing operations
$4.5m).

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

The Directors have not recommended
payment of a dividend (2018: nil).

The Directors were advised of the
following significant direct and
indirect interests in the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date
of this report:

DIRECTORS
The Directors who served during
the period and up to the date of this
report were as follows:
•

James Parsons

•

James Menzies (resigned 1 April
2020)

•

Andrew Dennan
(appointed 22 March 2019)

•

Marco Fumagalli

•

Fiona MacAulay

•

Nick Cooper
(appointed 15 January 2020,
resigned 1 April 2020)

•

Ilham Akbar Habibie
(resigned 28 February 2019)
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Future developments are included in
the Statement from the Chairman.
Information on the financial
instruments of the Group
and its approach to financial risk
management is disclosed in note 24
to the financial statements.

SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDINGS

Name of shareholder

Interest

Lombard Odier Asset
Management (Europe)
Limited

24.40%

CIP Merchant Capital Ltd

19.00%

Conrad Petroleum Ltd

6.90%

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
The events after the reporting period
are set out in note 29 to the financial
statements.

GOING CONCERN
The Group and Company financial
statements have been prepared
under the going concern assumption,
which presumes that the Group and
Company will be able to meet their
obligations as they fall due for the
foreseeable future.
Notwithstanding the loss incurred
during the year under review and the
challenges posed by the COVID-19
pandemic, the Directors have a
reasonable expectation that the
Group will be able to raise funds
to provide adequate resources to
continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future. During
2019, we raised $19.2 million from
a bond issue indicating strong
support for the Group’s strategy.
Whilst recognising the current
challenging market conditions, the
Directors expect conditions in the
capital markets and the broader
economy to improve later in 2020
and are confident we will find the
necessary financial support to
continue in operation. The Directors
therefore consider it appropriate for
the Group and Company to continue
to adopt the going concern basis
in preparing the Annual Report
and Financial Statements. Further
details on the Directors assumptions
and their conclusion are included
in the statement on going concern
included in note 2c to the Financial
Statements. The auditors have drawn
attention to going concern within
their audit report by way of a material
uncertainty.
This Directors' Report was approved
by the Board on 23 April 2020 and
signed on its behalf by:

James Parsons
Non-Executive Chairman
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’
RESPONSIBILITIES
The Directors are responsible for
preparing the Annual Report and the
financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and regulations.
Company law requires the Directors
to prepare financial statements for
each financial year. Under that law
the Directors are required to prepare
the Group and Company Financial
Statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) as adopted by the
European Union.
Under company law the Directors
must not approve the financial
statements unless they are satisfied
that they give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Company
and the Group as at the end of the
financial year and of the profit or
loss of the Group and the Company
for that period. In preparing these
financial statements, the Directors are
required to:

The Directors are responsible for
keeping adequate accounting records
that are sufficient to show and
explain the Group and Company’s
transactions and disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Company and
the Group and enable them to ensure
that the financial statements comply
with the Companies Act 2006. They
are also responsible for safeguarding
the assets of the Company and Group
and hence for taking reasonable steps
for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregularities.
The Directors are responsible for the
maintenance and integrity of the
corporate and financial information
included on the Company’s website.
Legislation in the United Kingdom
governing the preparation and
dissemination of the financial
statements may differ from
legislation in other jurisdictions.

•

select suitable accounting policies
and then apply them consistently;

The Group is compliant with AIM Rule
26 regarding the Group’s website.

•

make judgments and accounting
estimates that are reasonable and
prudent;

•

state whether the applicable IFRSs
as adopted by the European Union
have been followed subject to
any material departures disclosed
and explained in the financial
statements; and

This report was approved by the
Board on 23 April 2020 and signed on
its behalf:

•

James Parsons
Non-Executive Chairman

prepare the financial statements
on a going concern basis unless
it is inappropriate to presume
that the Group and the Company
will continue in business.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
OPINION
We have audited the financial statements of Coro Energy Plc (the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘group’)
for the year ended 31 December 2019 which comprise the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, the
Consolidated and Parent Company Balance Sheets, the Consolidated and Parent Company Statements of Changes
in Equity, the Consolidated and Parent Company Statements of Cash Flows and notes to the financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in
their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European
Union and as regards the parent company financial statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act 2006.
In our opinion:
•

the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at
31 December 2019 and of the group’s and parent company’s loss for the year then ended;

•

the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European
Union;

•

the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the
European Union and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and

•

the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the group and parent company in accordance with
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical
Standard as applied to listed entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING CONCERN
We draw attention to note 2c in the financial statements, which indicates conditions casting doubt on the going
concern assumption. The group has incurred a net loss of $16.6m during the year ended 31 December 2019, and has
incurred operating cash outflows of $2.5m. Further funds will need to be raised within the next 12 months in order for
the group to continue in operation. In addition, the potential impact of COVID-19, whilst not yet fully understood, will
likely have an impact on the operations of the business and the ability to raise additional financing.
The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis which is reliant on the Group obtaining
funding to meet its liabilities as they fall due.
These events or conditions, along with the other matters as set forth in note 2c indicate that a material uncertainty
exists that may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

OUR APPLICATION OF MATERIALITY
Group materiality 2019

Group materiality 2018

Basis for materiality

US$156k

€250k (US$ equivalent approx. $280k)

3% net assets (2018: gross assets basis)

Our calculated level of materiality has decreased in comparison to the previous year. This is due to key changes within
the Group during the year – including issue of Eurobond, planned disposal of the Italian operations, and acquisition of
the Duyung PSC interest – which have resulted in changes to audit risks and key audit matters, and a change in the
materiality basis used given the changes in key balances.
In the current year, we consider net assets to be the most significant determinant of the group’s financial position
and performance used by shareholders, with key financial statement balances within both assets (exploration and
evaluation assets; assets of the Italian disposal group; and cash and cash equivalents) and liabilities (Eurobond; liabilities
of disposal group). The going concern of the group is dependent on its ability to fund operations going forward,
including financing costs of the Eurobond, as well as on the valuation of its assets, which represent the underlying value
of the group.
Whilst materiality for the financial statements as a whole was set at US$156k, each significant component of the
group was audited to an overall materiality ranging between US$155k-US$19k with performance materiality set at
70%. We applied the concept of materiality both in planning and performing our audit, and in evaluating the effect of
misstatements.
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We agreed with the audit committee that we would report to the committee all audit differences identified during the
course of our audit in excess of US$7.8k (2018: €12.5k). There were no misstatements identified during the course of our
audit that were individually, or in aggregate, considered to be material.

AN OVERVIEW OF THE SCOPE OF OUR AUDIT
In designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risk of material misstatement in the financial
statements. In particular, we looked at areas requiring the directors to make subjective judgements, for example in
respect of significant accounting estimates including the carrying value of assets and the consideration of future
events that are inherently uncertain. We also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including
evaluating whether there was evidence of bias by the directors that represented a risk of material misstatement due to
fraud.
An audit was performed on the financial information of the group’s operating components which for the year ended
31 December 2019 were located in the United Kingdom, Italy and Asia, with the group’s accounting functions being
based in the UK and Italy. There are a number of dormant and holding companies within the group which have not
been assessed as significant components and no detailed audit work has been performed other than verification of
ownership and analytical procedures at group level.
The audit work surrounding our key audit matter in respect of carrying value of investments was performed by us as
group auditor and is explained further in the following section.
The Italian component, Apennine Energy SpA has been assessed as a significant component of the group. As at 31
December 2019, the Italian operations, headed by group subsidiary Coro Europe Limited, are recorded as a disposal
group and accounted for under IFRS 5. The held for sale assets and liabilities are included as line items on the group
statement of financial position, and the loss for the period from discontinued operations is included as a line item on
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The key balances held within the disposal group are exploration
& evaluation assets, oil & gas assets and rehabilitation provisions. Further details on the work performed on this
component and the interaction of our own work and that of the component auditors is detailed in the following section.
In addition, we engaged another audit firm to perform agreed upon procedures in relation to the Duyung PSC. These
procedures were limited to specified procedures surrounding key risk areas, focused on costs capitalised during the
year within the Group and compliance with local laws and regulations. This work was significant in addressing our key
audit matter in respect of capitalised exploration costs as the group’s exploration costs (other than those within the
Italian disposal group) are wholly relating to their interest in the Duyung PSC.
The work on both of these components was performed by non-PKF network firms operating under our instruction.
There was regular interaction with these parties during all stages of the audit, and we were responsible for the scope
and direction of the audit process. We reviewed key working papers remotely and held discussions with the local teams
as considered necessary to gain sufficient assurance, and understand the work performed and conclusions reached.
The Italian component auditor also provided their findings to us which were reviewed and challenged accordingly. This
gave us sufficient appropriate evidence for our opinion on the group financial statements.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement
(whether or not due to fraud) we identified, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy,
the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
In addition to the matter described in the material uncertainty related to going concern section, we have determined
the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.
Key Audit Matter

How the scope of our audit responded to the key audit matter

Carrying value of capitalised exploration costs
(Note 13)
Capitalised exploration costs represent
the most material balance within the
Group’s financial statements in respect of
its continuing operations and it is from said
assets that Group hopes to deliver future
value to its shareholders. There is the risk
that these amounts are impaired, and that
the capitalised amounts do not meet the
recognition criteria of IFRS.

Our work included the following:
•

Confirmation that the parties to the Duyung JOA hold good title to
the PSC license area;

•

Review of component auditors’ work in respect of capitalised costs
relating to the Duyung project, including the considerations made
in respect of IFRS 6’s recognition criteria; and

•

Consideration of independent Competent Person’s Report
prepared by Gaffney Cline & Associates, including review and
challenge of inputs therein and assessment of their competence
and independence; and

•

Consideration of management’s internal valuation modelling
in respect of the Duyung project, including challenge to all key
assumptions and sensitivity to reasonably possible changes, and
disclosures made thereon.

As explained in Note 2(e) to the financial statements, the accounting
treatment of costs capitalised in respect of the Duyung PSC is based
on the assumption that the Indonesian authorities will authorise the
transfer of the PSC interest directly to Coro. If Coro instead received
a 15% equity shareholding in the company owning the PSC, the
accounting treatment would need to be re-assessed.
Carrying value of investments in subsidiaries
(Company only) (Note 23)
Investment in subsidiary undertakings
represent the largest asset on the Company’s
financial statements. Recoverability depends
on Management’s assumptions regarding
their future performance which is in turn
dependent on the successful recoverability of
resources from exploration assets held by its
investments, either through operations or sale.
There is the risk that these investments may
be impaired.

Our work included the following:
•

Confirmation of ownership; and

•

A review of the impairment assessment prepared by client and
challenge of all inputs and estimates included therein. This review
was linked to the work performed in relation to the intangible
assets as detailed above, and also to work performed in relation to
disposal accounting, detailed below;

•

Agreeing consideration, dates and entities to be sold per
the agreement, to the client schedules and ensuring assets
and liabilities are held at fair value per IFRS 5 in the financial
statements, including ensuring any fair value adjustments have
been correctly recorded; and

•

Ensuring appropriate challenge to any assumptions used by
management in the fair value accounting.

OTHER INFORMATION
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the group
and parent company financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our
audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or
a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
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OPINIONS ON OTHER MATTERS PRESCRIBED BY THE COMPANIES ACT 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
•

the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

•

the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE REQUIRED TO REPORT BY EXCEPTION
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and their environment
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or the
directors’ report.
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us
to report to you if, in our opinion:
•

adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not
been received from branches not visited by us; or

•

the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

•

certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

•

we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities, the directors are responsible for the preparation
of the group and parent company financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the group and parent company financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the
group’s and the parent company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial
Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our
auditor’s report.

USE OF OUR REPORT
This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted
by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone, other than the company and the company’s members as a
body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.
Joseph Archer (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of PKF Littlejohn LLP
Statutory Auditor
15 Westferry Circus
Canary Wharf
London
E14 4HD
23 April 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2019

31 December
2019
Notes
$’000

31 December
2018
$’000
Restated

Continuing operations
General and administrative expenses

5

Depreciation expense
Impairment losses
Loss from operating activities

(4,815)

(125)

(6)

(37)

–

(5,264)

Finance income

7

Finance expense

7

Net finance (expense)/income
Loss before income tax
Income tax benefit/(expense)

(5,102)

54

Loss for the period from continuing operations

336

(2,652)

–

(2,598)

336

(7,862)
8

(4,821)

(4,485)

–

–

(7,862)

(4,485)

(8,773)

(7,204)

(16,635)

(11,689)

Discontinued operations
Loss for the period from discontinued operations

21

Total loss for the period
Other comprehensive income/loss
Items that may be reclassified to profit and loss
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations
Total comprehensive loss for the period

(557)

(2,208)

(17,192)

(13,897)

(16,635)

(11,689)

Loss attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Total comprehensive loss attributable to:
(17,192)

(13,897)

Basic loss per share from continuing operations ($)

9

(0.010)

(0.008)

Diluted loss per share from continuing operations ($)

9

(0.010)

(0.008)

Owners of the Company

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
The Group has changed its presentation currency to United States dollars. The comparative period shown in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income has been restated accordingly.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
As at 31 December 2019

31 December
2019
Notes
$’000

31 December
2018
$’000
Restated

1 January
2018
$’000
Restated

–

325

303

Non-current assets
Inventory

10

Other financial assets

24

–

648

–

Trade and other receivables

11

150

266

88

Deferred tax assets

8

–

2,285

2,391

Property, plant and equipment

12

50

6,615

2,766

Intangible assets

13

17,277

7,474

2,091

Right of use assets

18

Total non-current assets

259

–

–

17,736

17,613

7,639

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

24

6,374

9,361

438

Trade and other receivables

11

226

4,102

791

Derivative financial instruments

24

15

–

–

Non-current assets held for sale

14

–

2,062

–

6,615

15,525

1,229

Total current assets
Assets of disposal group held for sale

21

Total assets

14,313

–

–

38,664

33,138

8,868

1,046

6,131

2,518

Liabilities and equity
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

15

Provisions

16

–

1,524

45

Lease liabilities

18

90

–

–

Borrowings

17

Total current liabilities

632

–

–

1,768

7,655

2,563

Non-current liabilities
Provisions

16

13

8,289

5,757

Lease liabilities

18

158

–

–

Borrowings

17

Total non-current liabilities
Liabilities of disposal group held for sale

21

Total liabilities

19,211

–

–

19,382

8,289

5,757

12,332

–

–

33,482

15,944

8,320

Equity
Share capital

19

1,080

988

235

Share premium

19

45,679

43,619

15,056

Merger reserve

20

9,708

9,708

9,708

Other reserves

20

Accumulated losses
Total equity
Total equity and liabilities

3,978

2,059

3,040

(55,263)

(39,180)

(27,491)

5,182

17,194

548

38,664

33,138

8,868

The consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. The Group has changed
its presentation currency to United States dollars, with the cumulative impact of this change in accounting policy
reflected in the opening balance sheet of the comparative period.
The financial statements on pages 36 to 76 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 23 April 2020 and
were signed on its behalf by:
James Parsons
Non-Executive Chairman

Andrew Dennan
Non-Executive Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
Share
capital
$’000

Share
premium
$’000

Merger
reserve
$’000

235

15,056

9,708

Loss for the period

–

–

–

Other comprehensive income

–

–

–

(2,208)

Total comprehensive loss for the
period

–

–

–

(2,208)

715

30,574

–

At 1 January 2018 (restated)

Other Accumulated
reserves
losses
$’000
$’000

3,040

(27,491)

–

(11,689)

Total
$’000

548

Total comprehensive loss for the period:
–
(11,689)

(11,689)
(2,208)
(13,897)

Transactions with owners recorded
directly in equity:
Issue of share capital
Share based payments for services
rendered

–

–

31,289

38

1,637

–

–

–

1,675

Issue of options and warrants

–

–

–

1,227

–

1,227

Transaction costs relating to issue of
shares

–

(3,648)

–

–

–

(3,648)

–

30,543

Total transactions with owners
recorded directly in equity:

753

28,563

–

1,227

Balance at 31 December 2018
(restated)

988

43,619

9,708

2,059

(39,180)

17,194

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

At 31 December 2018 (restated)

Share
capital
$’000

Share
premium
$’000

Merger
reserve
$’000

988

43,619

9,708

Other Accumulated
reserves
losses
$’000
$’000

2,059

(39,180)

17,194

–

–

–

–

988

43,619

9,708

2,059

(39,154)

17,220

Loss for the period

–

–

–

–

(16,635)

(16,635)

Other comprehensive income

–

–

–

(557)

Total comprehensive loss for the
period

–

–

–

(557)

Issue of share capital

79

1,771

–

Share based payments for services
rendered

Adjustment on adoption of IFRS 16
At 1 January 2019 (restated)

26

Total
$’000

26

Total comprehensive loss for the period:
–
(16,635)

(557)
(17,192)

Transactions with owners recorded
directly in equity:
–

13

289

–

995

Lapsed share options

–

–

–

(526)

Issue of warrants

–

–

–

Total transactions with owners
recorded directly in equity:
Balance at 31 December 2019

2,007

92

2,060

–

2,476

1,080

45,679

9,708

3,978

–

1,850

–

1,297

526

–

–

2,007

526

5,154

(55,263)

5,182

The consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
The Group has changed its presentation currency to United States dollars. The comparative period shown in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity has been restated accordingly.
Opening figures as at 1 January 2019 have also been restated due to the Group's adoption of IFRS 16 Leases, as explained
in note 3q.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2019

31 December
2019
Notes
$’000

31 December
2018
$’000
Restated

2,856

1,749

(8,291)

(9,583)

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers
Payments to suppliers and employees
Interest paid

7

Interest received

7

Net cash used in operating activities

(64)
48

–
3

(5,451)

(7,831)

12

(1,058)

(1,098)

Payments for intangible assets

13

(15,106)

(Payments)/reimbursements for rehabilitation costs

16

Cash acquired in business combination (net of cash consideration paid)

22

Cash flow from investing activities
Payments for property, plant and equipment

Net cash used in investing activities

33
–
(16,131)

(194)
(405)
778
(919)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issues of shares

–

Share issue costs paid in cash

–

Proceeds from borrowings

17

Principal elements of lease payments

18

19,211
(174)

Net cash provided by financing activities

19,037

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents

(2,545)

19,784
(1,324)
–
–
18,460
9,710

Cash and cash equivalents brought forward

9,361

438

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

(290)

(787)

Cash and cash equivalents carried forward

6,526

9,361

The consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
The Group has changed its presentation currency to United States dollars. The comparative period shown in the
consolidated statement of cash flows has been restated accordingly.
Cash and cash equivalents carried forward at 31 December 2019 includes $152k relating to discontinued operations (2018:
$273k). Refer to note 21.
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COMPANY BALANCE SHEET
As at 31 December 2019

31 December
2019
Notes
$’000

31 December
2018
$’000
Restated

1 January
2018
$’000
Restated

19,767

3,808

6,664

Non-current assets
Investment in subsidiaries

23

Loans to subsidiaries

23

–

5,318

3,744

Property, plant and equipment

12

50

65

–

Intangible assets

13

30

24

–

Trade and other receivables

11

150

146

–

Right of use assets

18

259

–

–

20,256

9,361

10,408

24

5,324

9,088

315

Total non-current assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

11

1,403

1,265

100

Loans to subsidiaries

23

169

–

–

Derivative financial instruments

24

15

–

–

Trade and other receivables

Total current assets
Total assets

6,911

10,353

415

27,167

19,714

10,823

Liabilities and equity
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

15

2,451

3,901

459

Provisions

16

–

13

–

Lease liabilities

18

91

–

–

Borrowings

17

632

–

–

3,174

3,914

459

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Provisions

16

13

–

–

Lease liabilities

18

158

–

–

Borrowings

17

19,211

–

–

Total non-current liabilities

19,382

–

–

Total liabilities

22,556

3,914

459

Equity
Share capital

19

1,080

988

235

Share premium

19

45,679

43,619

15,056

Other reserves

20

2,014
(44,162)

Accumulated losses
Total equity
Total equity and liabilities

(448)

837

(28,359)

(5,764)

4,611

15,800

10,364

27,167

19,714

10,823

The Company balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. The Company has changed
its presentation currency to United States dollars, with the cumulative impact of this change in accounting policy
reflected in the opening balance sheet of the comparative period.
As permitted by s408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Company has not presented its own income statement. The
Company loss for the year was $16.4m (2018: loss $22.6m).
The financial statements on pages 36 to 76 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 23 April 2020 and
were signed on its behalf by:
James Parsons
Non-Executive Chairman
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Share
capital
$’000

Share
premium
$’000

Merger
reserve
$’000

235

15,056

–

837

(5,764)

10,364

Loss for the period

–

–

–

–

(22,595)

(22,595)

Other comprehensive income

–

–

–

(2,512)

Total comprehensive loss for the period

–

–

–

(2,512)

715

30,574

–

Balance at 1 January 2018 (restated)

Other Accumulated
reserves
losses
$’000
$’000

Total
$’000

Total comprehensive loss for the period:
–
(22,595)

(2,512)
(25,107)

Transactions with owners recorded
directly in equity:
Issue of share capital
Share based payments for services
rendered

–

–

31,289

38

1,637

–

–

–

1,675

Issue of options and warrants

–

–

–

1,227

–

1,227

Transaction costs relating to issue
of shares

–

(3,648)

–

–

–

(3,648)

–

30,543

Total transactions with owners recorded
directly in equity

753

28,563

–

1,227

Balance at 31 December 2018 (restated)

988

43,619

–

(448)

Share
capital
$’000

Share
premium
$’000

Merger
reserve
$’000

988

43,619

–

–

–

–

988

43,619

–

Loss for the period

–

–

–

–

Other comprehensive income

–

–

–

(14)

Total comprehensive loss for the period

–

–

–

(14)

Issue of share capital

79

1,771

–

–

–

1,850

Share based payments for services
rendered

13

289

–

995

–

1,297

Lapsed share options

–

–

–

526

–

Issue of warrants

–

–

–

2,007

–

2,007

92

2,060

–

2,476

526

5,154

1,080

45,679

–

2,014

At 31 December 2018 (restated)
Adjustment on adoption of IFRS 16
At 1 January 2019 (restated)

(28,359)

Other Accumulated
reserves
losses
$’000
$’000

(448)
–
(448)

(28,359)
26

15,800

Total
$’000

15,800
26

(28,333)

15,826

(16,355)

(16,355)

Total comprehensive loss for the period:
–
(16,355)

(14)
(16,369)

Transactions with owners recorded
directly in equity:

Total transactions with owners recorded
directly in equity
Balance at 31 December 2019

(526)

(44,162)

4,611

The Company statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
The Company has changed its presentation currency to United States dollars. The comparative period shown in the
Company statement of changes in equity has been restated accordingly. Opening figures as at 1 January 2019 have also
been restated due to the Company's adoption of IFRS 16 Leases, as explained in note 3q.
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2019

31 December
2019
Notes
$’000

31 December
2018
$’000
Restated

Cash flows from operating activities
(4,085)

Payments to suppliers and employees

(4,523)

Interest paid

(32)

–

Interest received

39

–

Net cash used in operating activities

(4,078)

(4,523)

Cash flow from investing activities
Payments for property, plant and equipment

12

(3)

(73)

Payments for intangible assets

13

(31)

(6)

Acquisition of subsidiaries

23

(16,000)

(2,214)

(16,034)

(2,293)

Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issues of shares

–

Share issue costs paid in cash

–

Proceeds from borrowings

17

19,211

Loans to subsidiaries

23

(2,497)

Principal elements of lease payments

18

19,784
(1,324)
–
(2,216)

(84)

–

Net cash provided by financing activities

16,630

16,244

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents

(3,482)

9,428

Cash and cash equivalents brought forward

9,088

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents carried forward

(282)
5,324

315
(655)
9,088

The Company statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
The Company has changed its presentation currency to United States dollars. The comparative period shown in the
Company statement of cash flows has been restated accordingly.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2019

NOTE 1: CORPORATE INFORMATION
Coro Energy plc (“the Company” and together with its subsidiaries, “the Group”) is a company incorporated in England
in November 2016 and listed on the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange. The Company’s
registered address is 40 George Street, London W1U 7DW. The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019 comprises the Company and its interests in its 100% owned subsidiaries and jointly controlled
operations (together referred to as “the Group”).

NOTE 2: BASIS OF PREPARATION
(a) Statement of compliance

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and IFRS
Interpretations Committee interpretations as adopted by the European Union and with those parts of the Companies
Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS.

(b) Basis of measurement

These financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost apart from non-current assets (or disposal
groups) held for sale which are measured at fair value less costs of disposal and derivative financial instruments
recorded at fair value through profit and loss.

(c) Going concern

The Group and Company financial statements have been prepared under the going concern assumption, which
presumes that the Group and Company will be able to meet their obligations as they fall due for the foreseeable future.
At 31 December 2019 the Group had cash reserves of $6.4m (excluding cash held by the Italian disposal group held for
sale). Management have prepared a cash flow forecast for the period to 30 June 2021 which includes significant cost
cutting measures implemented by the Group from Q2 2020 in response to the COVID-19 pandemic and depressed
oil prices. While a cash surplus is expected at the end of Q1 2021, the Group and Company will face a cash deficit in Q2
2021, within the going concern forecast period. Accordingly, the Group and Company will need to raise additional funds
during the forecast period in order to remain a going concern. The Directors believe that the current turbulent market
conditions will be short term in nature, and they have a reasonable expectation that additional funding will be available
in the equity markets when required. Therefore, the financial statements have been prepared on the going concern
basis.
The ability of the Group and Company to secure additional funding is not guaranteed, and significant uncertainty has
been created by the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic which could impact market conditions for longer than the Directors'
currently expect. However, based on the above, the Directors consider it appropriate to continue to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting in preparing the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019. Should
the Group and Company be unable to continue trading, adjustments would have to be made to reduce the value of
the assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for further liabilities which might arise and to classify fixed assets as
current. The auditors make reference to a material uncertainty in relation to going concern within their audit report.

(d) Foreign currency transactions

Effective from 1 January 2019, the consolidated financial statements of the Group are presented in United States dollars
(“USD”), rounded to the nearest $1,000 (2018: presentation in Euros). This change in presentation currency brings the
Group in line with the majority of other upstream oil and gas exploration and production companies operating in
South East Asia. As a result, the opening balance sheet of the comparative period, as well as the comparative financial
statements, have been retranslated to USD in line with the translation rules outlined below. The net impact of this
retranslation was recognised in the functional currency translation reserve at 1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018.
The functional currency of the Company and all UK domiciled subsidiaries is British Pounds Sterling (“GBP”). The
Group’s subsidiaries domiciled in Singapore have a functional currency of USD. Apennine Energy SpA, the Group’s
Italian subsidiary, included within the disposal group held for sale, has a functional currency of Euros.
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in profit or loss as finance income or expense. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the date of transaction and not retranslated.
The results and financial position of Group companies that have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:
•

Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate;

•

Income and expenses are translated at average rates; and

•

Equity balances are not retranslated. All resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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NOTE 2: BASIS OF PREPARATION continued
(e) Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgments regarding the application of the
Group’s accounting policies, and to use accounting estimates which impact the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
This note sets out the estimates and judgements taken by management that are deemed to have a higher risk of
causing a material adjustment to the reported carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in future years.

(i) Key accounting judgements
Accounting for investment in Duyung Production Sharing Contract (“PSC”)

In April 2019, the Group completed its acquisition of a 15% interest in the Duyung PSC, located in the West Natuna Sea,
Indonesia. Regulatory approvals for the transfer of the 15% PSC interest to the Group’s wholly owned subsidiary, Coro
Energy Duyung (Singapore) Pte Ltd are expected to be received in Q2 2020. After reviewing the rights and obligations
of the Group under the Joint Operating Agreement entered into by the Duyung venture participants, management has
concluded that the Group does not jointly control the Duyung venture but exercises significant influence. Significant
influence exists via the Group’s 15% equity stake and active representation on the Operating Committee, the key
decision- making body of the arrangement. There are also certain decisions of the venture which require unanimous
approval from all parties.
While the Group does not have joint control over the arrangement, management has concluded that the Group’s
interest in the Duyung PSC should be accounted for under the same provisions as a joint operation outlined in IFRS 11.
This is due to the fact the Group has a direct right to the output of the venture, and direct obligation to meet its share of
venture liabilities as they fall due. Under IFRS 11, a joint operator recognises:
•

Its share of assets and liabilities held jointly by the joint operation;

•

Revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation; and

•

Its share of expenses incurred by the joint operation.

The cost to acquire the Group’s 15% interest has been recognised in intangible assets (exploration and evaluation assets).
The Group’s share of subsequent expenditures incurred by the joint operation have been capitalised as intangible assets
(exploration and evaluation assets, note 13) or recognised as expenses (within general and administrative expenses, note
5), depending on the underlying nature of the expenditure.
The accounting treatment adopted by the Group assumes that the Indonesian authorities will authorise the transfer
of the PSC interest to Coro. As at the date of signing these financial statements, the transfer has not been approved,
but is expected to be granted in Q2 2020. If the transfer is not approved for any reason, Coro will instead receive a 15%
equity shareholding in West Natuna Exploration Ltd, a company which currently owns 100% of the PSC interest. In this
scenario, the accounting for Coro's economic interest would need to be re-evaluated in light of the change in facts and
circumstances.

(ii) Key accounting estimates
Estimate of gas reserves and resources

The disclosed amount of the Group’s gas reserves and resources impacts a number of accounting estimates in the
financial statements including future cash flows used in asset impairment reviews, timing of rehabilitation spend used
to calculate rehabilitation provisions and the calculation of units of production depreciation on Italian gas assets (prior
to reclassification of these assets as a disposal group held for sale, after which the assets are not depreciated).
In respect of the Group’s Italian assets which are held for sale, estimation of recoverable quantities of Proved and
Probable reserves is based on a number of factors including expected commodity prices, discount rates, future capital
expenditure and operating costs impacting future cash flows. It also requires interpretation of complex geological
and geophysical models in order to make an assessment of the size, shape, depth and quality of reservoirs, and their
anticipated recoveries. The economic, geological and technical factors used to estimate reserves may change from
period to period.
The Group employs staff with the appropriate knowledge, skills and experience to estimate reserves quantities.
Periodically, the Group’s reserves calculations are also subject to independent third party certification by a competent
person. The date of the last Competent Person’s Report issued in respect of the Group’s disclosed gas reserves and
resources was as follows:
•

Italian assets (Sillaro and Rapagnano fields): effective date 31 December 2019

•

Italian assets (other fields): effective date 31 December 2017

•

Duyung PSC: effective date 31 December 2017

Gas reserves and resources are disclosed in the Strategic Report.
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NOTE 2: BASIS OF PREPARATION continued
Measurement of non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale (note 21)

In 2019, the Group continued to execute its strategy of growth in South East Asia through the acquisition of a 15%
interest in the Duyung PSC. Following this acquisition and the Group’s ongoing business development activities in the
region, the Directors see further opportunities to capture value and scale in the region. The same opportunity does
not exist for the Group in Italy, and as a result the Board of Directors took the decision during the first half of 2019 to
prioritise full divestment of the Italian business. Subsequently, the Group entered into a binding conditional Share
Purchase Agreement with Zenith Energy Ltd (“Zenith”) to sell the entire issued capital of the Group’s wholly owned
subsidiary, Coro Europe Limited, which in turn owns the Group’s Italian subsidiary Apennine Energy SpA. As at balance
sheet date, the acquisition has not completed due to certain conditions precedent not having been met, principally
in relation to outstanding regulatory approvals. In accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations, the assets and liabilities of the Italian business have been classified as a disposal group held
for sale. The Italian business represents a separate geographical area of operation for the Group and has therefore also
been treated as a discontinued operation.
As required by IFRS 5, immediately prior to classification as a disposal group held for sale, the Italian assets were tested
for impairment. Discounted cash flow models were prepared for each Cash Generating Unit (“CGU”), with the resulting
net present value compared to the CGU carrying value. This resulted in impairment losses being recorded on the
Bezzecca CGU ($191k), and on the Rapagnano CGU ($394k). These impairment losses arose due to a reduction in the
Group’s long-term gas price forecast following a deterioration in market conditions in the first half of 2019. Similarly,
goodwill which arose on the acquisition of Sound Energy Holdings Italy Limited in April 2018 was impaired in full due to
a reduction in the overall value of the Italian asset portfolio caused by the downward revision in gas prices.
After recording individual impairments described above, the entire disposal group was tested for impairment
by comparing the net assets of the disposal group with its fair value less costs of disposal (“FVLCD”). FVLCD was
determined with reference to a corporate valuation model, prepared using a discounted cash flow methodology, as well
as with reference to the underlying book values of the assets and liabilities of the disposal group. This resulted in an
additional impairment of $335k which was allocated to non-current assets on a pro-rata basis as required by IFRS 5.
Non-current assets held for sale are not depreciated. Accordingly, each CGU was tested again for impairment at 31
December 2019 by comparing carrying value with fair value less costs of disposal, calculated using a DCF model. The
fair value of the Casa Tiberi CGU was determined to be less than zero following preparation of an updated DCF model,
so this CGU was impaired in full ($37k). The carrying value of gas plant and equipment previously in use on the Casa
Tonetto licence was impaired following receipt of an updated valuation of these assets, resulting in a write down of
$47k. And finally, an impairment of $853k was noted on the Laura concession. In October 2019, the Italian Ministry
of Environment declined to provide the necessary environmental approvals to proceed with the project. The Group
could appeal this decision but considers the chance of success to be remote, and in any case the ban on drilling within
12 miles of the coastline is still in force. Following the imposition of this drilling ban, the Group was considering its
options for legal remedy from the Italian Government under the Energy Charter Treaty. However, the inability to get
environmental approval greatly reduces the Group’s chances of success in any legal action since a positive decision by
the Ministry of Environment would have been a requirement to proceed with the field development. As a result the
carrying value of Laura assets has been impaired to nil.
After testing individual CGUs for impairment, the fair value of the disposal group was again remeasured and compared
to the net carrying value of the assets and liabilities in the disposal group. At 31 December 2019, the fair value has been
estimated by management based on the consideration agreed with Zenith. The initial consideration payable on closing
is 6.7 million Zenith shares. Further deferred consideration of £3.5 million is payable, subject to the Italian Portfolio being
disposed of achieving average daily production of 100,000 scm over a period of four successive months. The deferred
consideration will be satisfied through the issue of Zenith shares at a 40% premium to the closing price on the day
before the production condition is satisfied. The resulting estimate of fair value is $1.8m, which is based on the following
assumptions:
•

Initial consideration valued at the Zenith closing share price on 31 December 2019, translated to USD at the closing
rate; and

•

Deferred consideration discounted by 50%, which is deemed to be the probability of the production condition being
met.

The calculated fair value was lower than the carrying value of net assets of the disposal group, resulting in an additional
impairment of $391k which was allocated pro-rata to non-current assets within the measurement scope of IFRS 5.
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NOTE 2: BASIS OF PREPARATION continued
Assessment of indicators of impairment of intangible exploration and evaluation assets (note 13)

The Group’s exploration and evaluation assets, comprising assets related to the Duyung PSC (and excluding Italian
exploration and evaluation assets held in disposal group), are assessed for indicators of impairment under IFRS 6
Exploration for, and evaluation of, mineral resources. The Group acquired its 15% interest in the Duyung PSC in April
2019. In Q4 2019, the operator of the Duyung venture undertook a two-well campaign designed primarily to appraise
the Mako gas field, with a secondary objective to test the lower Gabus exploration prospect. Both appraisal wells were
successful, confirming the excellent reservoir characteristics of the Mako gas field across a large areal extent. The Gabus
prospect was deemed to have low gas saturation and permeabilities and will not be developed further. Following
completion of the drilling programme, the operator of the Duyung venture updated its volumetric model and has
increased its estimate of gross recoverable 2C resources to 493 Bcf (74 Bcf net to Coro), an increase of 217 Bcf compared
to the 2C resource previously certified by Gaffney, Cline and Associates ("GCA"). The revised operator estimates will
be subject to a resource audit by GCA with the results expected in Q2 2020. Given the increased resource, and in the
absence of any other negative indicators, no triggers for impairment under IFRS 6 were identified.
Impairment testing of exploration and evaluation assets recorded as assets of a disposal group held for sale is discussed
above.

Rehabilitation provisions

Costs relating to rehabilitation of oil and gas fields recorded within liabilities of a disposal group held for sale will be
incurred many years in the future and the precise requirements for these activities are uncertain. Technologies and
costs are constantly changing, as well as political, environmental, safety and public expectations. A change in the
key assumptions used to calculate rehabilitation provisions could have a material impact on the carrying value of the
provisions. Currently the Group’s rehabilitation provisions relate solely to oil and gas fields in Italy, and are recorded
within liabilities of a disposal group held for sale.
The carrying value of these provisions in the financial statements represents an estimate of the present value of the
future costs expected to be incurred to rehabilitate each field, which are reviewed at least annually. Future costs are
estimated by internal experts, with external specialists engaged periodically to assist management. These estimates
are based on current price observations, taking into account developments in technology and changes to legal and
contractual requirements. Expectations regarding cost inflation are also incorporated. Future cost estimates are
discounted to present value using a rate that approximates the time value of money, which ranges between 1.5%
and 2.0% depending on the expected year of rehabilitation spend. The discount rate is based on the average yield on
Italian Government bonds of a duration that matches the expected year of expenditures, incorporating a risk premium
appropriate to the nature of the liabilities.

Recoverability of deferred tax assets

The recoverability of deferred tax assets recorded within assets of a disposal group held for sale is dependent on the
availability of taxable profits in future years. The Group undertakes a forecasting exercise at each reporting date to
assess its expected utilisation of these losses. The key areas of estimation uncertainty in these forecasts are future gas
prices, production rates, capital and operating costs, and overhead expenses, all of which could impact the generation
of taxable profits by Italian subsidiaries. The model used to calculate expected utilisation of tax losses is prepared on a
consistent basis to the DCF models used to test for impairment. The closing DTA has not materially changed from 31
December 2018.

(f) Correction of error

In the prior year, there was an error in the presentation of trade and other payables in the statement of financial
position of the Company, and the disclosed loss after tax of the Company. Both were understated by €281k, or
approximately $322k. This arose due to a late adjustment which was not correctly reflected in the Company numbers.
The consolidated Group statement of financial position and statement of comprehensive income statement were
correctly presented and disclosed. As a result, the Company statement of financial position has been restated to reflect
the correct trade and other payables figure (and is also presented in US dollars due to the change in presentation
currency). Similarly, the disclosed Company loss for 2018 has also been restated. The impact is summarised below:

Line item – Company balance sheet

Trade and other payables
Accumulated losses
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2018 – as
presented
€’000

3,091
(24,024)

2018 – as
restated
€’000

3,372
(24,305)

2018 – as
restated
$’000

3,901
(28,359)
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NOTE 3: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The Group has consistently applied the accounting policies set out in the notes below to all periods presented in the
financial statements.

(a) Principles of consolidation
(i) Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements include the results of Coro Energy plc and its subsidiary undertakings made up
to the same accounting date. Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it
is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. The accounting policies
of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align them with the policies adopted by the Group. All intragroup balances, transactions, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

(ii) Interests in other entities

The Group classifies its interests in other entities based on the level of control exercised by the Group over the entity. In
a situation where the Group has rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, of an entity but does not share
joint control, the Group accounts for its interest in the same manner as a joint operator.
A joint operator accounts for its share of each of the venture’s assets, liabilities and transactions, including its share of
those held or incurred jointly, in relation to the joint operation. In respect of the Duyung investment, we provide further
detail in note 2e.

(b) Taxation

Income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income, based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially
enacted at the date of the statement of financial position, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.
Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method, providing for temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.
The following temporary differences are not provided for: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit; and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that the Group is
able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that they will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities using tax rates enacted at the date of the statement of financial position.
A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
the related tax benefit will be realised.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and where the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities
are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

(c) Property, plant and equipment
(i) Recognition and measurement

Property, plant and equipment comprises the Group’s tangible oil and gas assets together with office furniture and
equipment. Items of property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation, accumulated
impairment losses and pre-commissioning revenue and expenses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to acquisition of the asset.
Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds
from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and are recognised within "other income" in
profit or loss.

(ii) Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only if it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with
expenditure will flow to the Group.

(iii) Depreciation
Oil and gas assets

Oil and gas assets includes gas production facilities and the accumulation of all exploration, evaluation, development
and acquisition costs in relation to areas of interest in which production licences have been granted and the related
project has moved to the production phase.
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NOTE 3: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
Amortisation of oil and gas assets is calculated on the units-of-production (“UOP”) basis, and is based on Proved and
Probable reserves. The use of the UOP method results in an amortisation charge proportional to the depletion of
economically recoverable reserves. Amortisation commences when commercial levels of production are achieved from
a field or licence area.
The useful life of oil and gas assets, which is assessed at least annually, has regard to both its physical life limitations and
present assessments of economically recoverable reserves of the field at which the asset is located. These calculations
require the use of estimates and assumptions, including the amount of recoverable reserves and estimates of future
capital expenditure. The calculation of the UOP rate of depreciation/amortisation will be impacted to the extent that
actual production in the future is different from current forecast production based on total proved reserves, or future
capital expenditure estimates change.
Changes to recoverable reserves could arise due to changes in the factors or assumptions used in estimating reserves,
including:
•

The effect of changes in commodity price assumptions; or

•

Unforeseen operational issues which impact expected recovery of hydrocarbons.

Assets designated as held for sale, or included in a disposal group held for sale, are not depreciated.

Other property, plant and equipment

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item
of property, plant and equipment. The depreciation will commence when the asset is installed ready for use.
The estimated useful lives of each class of asset fall within the following ranges:
Office furniture and equipment

3-5 years

The residual value, the useful life and the depreciation method applied to an asset are reviewed at each reporting date.

(iv) Impairment

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset (or Cash Generating Unit –
“CGU”) may be impaired. For oil and gas assets, management has assessed its CGUs as being an individual field, which
is the lowest level for which cash inflows are largely independent of those of other assets. If any indication exists, or
when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or CGU’s fair value less costs of disposal (“FVLCD”) and value in use
(“VIU”). Where the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset/CGU is considered
impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.
The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecasts, which are prepared separately for
each of the Group’s CGUs to which the individual assets are allocated. These budgets and forecasts generally cover the
forecasted life of the CGUs. VIU does not reflect future cash flows associated with improving or enhancing an asset’s
performance.
For assets/CGUs, an assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the Group
estimates the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has
been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s/CGU’s recoverable amount since the last impairment
loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset/CGU does not exceed either its
recoverable amount, or the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation/amortisation,
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset/CGU in prior years. Such a reversal is recognised in the income
statement.

(d) Intangible assets
(i) Exploration and evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation assets are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses in the statement of financial
position. Exploration and evaluation assets include the cost of oil and gas licences, and subsequent exploration and
evaluation expenditure incurred in an area of interest.
Exploration and evaluation assets are not depreciated. When the commercial and technical feasibility of an area of
interest is proved, capitalised costs in relation to that area of interest are transferred to property, plant and equipment
(oil and gas assets) and depreciation commences in line with the depreciation policy outlined above.
Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment if sufficient data exists to determine technical feasibility
and commercial viability or facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying value amount exceeds the recoverable
amount.
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NOTE 3: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
Exploration and evaluation assets are tested for impairment when any of the following facts and circumstances exist:
•

the term of the exploration licence in the specific area of interest has expired during the reporting period or will
expire in the near future, and is not expected to be renewed;

•

substantive expenditure on further exploration for an evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area is not
budgeted nor planned;

•

exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area have not led to the discovery of commercially
viable quantities of mineral resources and the decision was made to discontinue such activities in the specific area;
or

•

sufficient data exists to indicate that, although a development in the specific area is likely to proceed, the carrying
amount of the exploration and evaluation asset is unlikely to be recovered in full from successful development or by
sale.

Areas of interest which no longer satisfy the above policy are considered to be impaired and are measured at their
recoverable amount, with any subsequent impairment loss recognised in the profit and loss.

(ii) Software

Costs for acquisition of software, including directly attributable costs of implementation, are capitalised as intangible
assets and amortised over their expected useful life (currently five years).

(iii) Goodwill

Goodwill arising from business combinations is included in intangible assets.
Goodwill is not amortised but it is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those
cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination
in which the goodwill arose.

(e) Inventory – Well Equipment

Inventory is comprised of well equipment expected to be utilised in future development of known wells with specific
characteristics. Inventory is carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Any impairment on value is taken to the
income statement.

(f) Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale and discontinued operations

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use and a sale is considered highly probable. They
are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell, except for certain assets such as
deferred tax assets, which are specifically exempt from this requirement. An impairment loss is recognised for any initial
or subsequent write-down of the asset (or disposal group) to fair value less costs to sell. A gain is recognised for any
subsequent increases in fair value less costs to sell of an asset (or disposal group), but not in excess of any cumulative
impairment loss previously recognised. A gain or loss not previously recognised by the date of the sale of the noncurrent asset (or disposal group) is recognised at the date of derecognition.
Non-current assets (including those that are part of a disposal group) are not depreciated or amortised while they are
classified as held for sale. Interest and other expenses attributable to the liabilities of a disposal group classified as held
for sale continue to be recognised.
Non-current assets classified as held for sale and the assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale are presented
separately from the other assets in the balance sheet. The liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale are
presented separately from other liabilities in the balance sheet.
A discontinued operation is a component of the entity that has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale and that
represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations, is part of a single co-ordinated plan to
dispose of such a line of business or area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. The
results of discontinued operations are presented separately in the statement of profit or loss.
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NOTE 3: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
(g) Investments and financial assets
(i) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:
•

those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through Other Comprehensive Income or through profit or
loss); and

•

those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms
of the cash flows.

(ii) Recognition and measurement

A financial asset is recognised if the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial
assets are derecognised if the Group’s contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets expire or if the
Group transfers the financial asset to another party without retaining control or substantially all risks and rewards of
the asset. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are accounted for at trade date, i.e. the date the Group
commits itself to purchase or sell the asset.
At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in profit or loss.
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. Currently, the Group’s financial assets are all held for collection of contractual
cash flows, which are solely payments of principal and interest. Accordingly, the Group’s financial assets are measured
subsequent to initial recognition at amortised cost.
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents
for the purpose of the statement of cash flows.

(iii) Impairment

On a forward-looking basis, the Group estimates the expected credit losses associated with its receivables and other
financial assets carried at amortised cost, and records a loss allowance for these expected losses.

(iv) Investment in subsidiaries

In the Company balance sheet, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less accumulated impairment.

(h) Derivatives

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into, and they are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period.

(i) Provisions
(i) Rehabilitation provision

Rehabilitation obligations arise when the Group disturbs the natural environment where its oil and gas assets are
located and is required by local laws/regulations to restore these sites.
Full provision for these obligations is made based on the present value of the estimated costs to be incurred in
dismantling infrastructure, plugging and abandoning wells and restoring sites to their original condition. Changes to
future cost estimates are capitalised and recorded in property, plant and equipment (oil and gas assets) as rehabilitation
assets, unless the carrying value of these assets is not supportable, in which case changes to rehabilitation provisions
are recorded directly in the income statement. Future cost estimates are inflated to the expected year of rehabilitation
activity and discounted to present value using a market rate of interest that is deemed to approximate the time value of
money.
The estimated costs of rehabilitation are reviewed annually and adjusted against the relevant rehabilitation asset or in
the income statement, as appropriate. Annual increases in the provision relating to the unwind of the discount rate are
accounted for in the income statement as a finance expense.

(ii) Other provisions

Other provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. The provisions are discounted to present value using a
market rate of interest that is deemed to approximate the time value of money. The increase in the provision due to the
passage of time is recognised as interest expense.
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NOTE 3: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
(j) Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is
recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Loan fees paid on
the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan and amortised over the life of the
borrowings.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

(k) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the
financial year which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of invoice date. Trade
and other payables are presented as current liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting
period. They are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

(l) Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to issue of ordinary shares are recognised
as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

(m) Share based payments

Share based payments relate to transactions where the Group receives services from employees or service providers
and the terms of the arrangements include payment of a part or whole of consideration by issuing equity instruments
to the counterparty. The Group measures the services received from non-employees, and the corresponding increase
in equity, at the fair value of the goods or services received. When the transactions are with employees, the fair value is
measured by reference to the fair value of the shares issued. The expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is
the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.

(n) Revenue

Under IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, there is a five-step approach to revenue recognition:
Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer;
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract;
Step 3: Determine the transaction price;
Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and
Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.
The Group has one revenue stream, being the sale of gas (recorded within loss from discontinued operations). Gas is
sold to wholesale customers under gas supply agreements, which have different volume and price specifications (both
fixed and variable). Gas sales revenue is recognised when control of the gas passes at the delivery point into the local
gas pipeline network, which is the only performance obligation. Revenue is presented net of value added tax (“VAT”),
rebates and discounts and after eliminating intra-group sales.

(o) Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:
•

fair value of assets transferred;

•

liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business;

•

equity instruments issued by the Group;

•

fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement; and

•

fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired, and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with
limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any noncontrolling interest in the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at the noncontrolling interest’s proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net identifiable assets. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.
The excess of the consideration transferred, amount of any non-controlling interest and fair value of pre-existing equity
interest over the fair value of net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the
fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired, the difference is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a gain on
bargain purchase.
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NOTE 3: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
(p) Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability at the date at which the leased asset is
available for use by the Group.
Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net
present value of the following lease payments:
•

Fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

•

Variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

•

Amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees;

•

The exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

•

Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the measurement of the
liability.
The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being
the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to
the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions.
Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the
lease period.
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost which comprises the following:
•

The amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

•

Any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received;

•

Any initial direct costs; and

•

Restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straightline basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
underlying asset’s useful life.
Payments associated with short-term leases (term less than 12 months) and all leases of low-value assets (generally less
than $5k) are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss.

(q) Changes to accounting policies, disclosures, standards and interpretations
(i) New and amended standards adopted by the Group

IFRS 16 Leases became applicable to the current reporting period, replacing IAS 17 Leases. The key change under IFRS
16 is that most leases designated as "operating leases" under IAS 17 now qualify for balance sheet recognition, subject to
certain exceptions. The Group reviewed all its leasing arrangements and identified three contracts previously classified
as operating leases which have been recognised as lease liabilities in the 1 January 2019 balance sheet. An associated
right-of-use asset was recognised for each lease.
Lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate, which averaged 18% across the Group.
In applying IFRS 16 for the first time, the Group has used the following practical expedients permitted by the standard:
•

Use of a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics; and

•

The accounting for operating leases with a remaining lease term of less than 12 months as at 1 January 2019 as shortterm leases.

On 1 January 2019, the Group recognised the following lease liabilities:
$’000

Current

176

Non-current

460

Total

636
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The associated right-of-use assets for property leases were measured on a retrospective basis as if the new rules had
always been applied. Other right-of-use assets were measured at the amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by
the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognised in the balance sheet as at 31
December 2018. There were no onerous lease contracts that would have required an adjustment to the right-of-use
assets at the date of initial application.
Right-of-use assets recognised on 1 January 2019 were:
$’000

Properties

654

Motor vehicles

14

Total

668

The net impact on accumulated losses at 1 January 2019 was a decrease of $26k, representing initial direct costs of
entering into property leases which were originally expensed.

(ii) New standards not yet adopted

There are no new International Financial Reporting Standards and Interpretations issued but not effective for the
reporting period ending 31 December 2019 that will materially impact the Group.

NOTE 4: SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group’s reportable segments as described below are based on the Group’s geographic business units. This includes
the Group’s upstream gas operations in Italy and South East Asia, along with the corporate head office in the United
Kingdom. This represents a change from the prior year, where the Italian segment was presented as two separate
segments based on the stage of development of the Group’s assets: Exploration and Development/Production. The
aggregation of these two segments into a single Italian business unit reflects the way information is presented to the
Chief Operating Decision Maker, which is the Group’s Chief Executive Officer. Additionally, the Group now presents
a South East Asian segment following the completion of the acquisition of a 15% interest in the Duyung Production
Sharing Contract in Indonesia. During the period, a decision was taken to prioritise a disposal of the Group’s Italian
operations. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities of this segment at 31 December 2019 are excluded from the table
below, and are disclosed in note 21.
Italy

Asia

UK

Total

31
31
31
31
31
31
31
31
December December December December December December December December
2019
2018
2019
2018
2019
2018
2019
2018
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
(restated)
(restated)
(restated)
(restated)

Depreciation and amortisation

–

–

–

–

(125)

(6)

(125)

(6)

Impairment losses

–

–

–

–

(37)

–

(37)

–

Interest expense

–

–

–

–

(2,335)

–

(2,335)

–

Segment loss before tax from
continuing operations

–

–

–

(7,492)

Segment loss before tax from
discontinued operations

(8,773)

(370)
–

(8,967)

Italy

–

–

Asia

(4,485)
–

UK

(7,862)

(4,485)

(8,773)

(8,967)

Total

31
31
31
31
31
31
31
31
December December December December December December December December
2019
2018
2019
2018
2019
2018
2019
2018
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
(restated)
(restated)
(restated)
(restated)

Segment assets
Segment liabilities

14,313

22,842

(12,332)

(12,068)

18,297
(579)
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6,054

10,296

38,664

33,138

–

(20,571)

(3,876)

(33,482)

(15,944)
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NOTE 5: GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
31 December
2019
$’000

31 December
2018
$’000
(restated)

Employee benefits expense (note 6)

1,425

1,434

Business development

1,458

1,270

Corporate and compliance costs

635

367

Investor and public relations

329

397

G&A – Duyung venture

192

–

Other G&A

164

286

Share based payments (note 25)

899

551

Company launch costs

–

97

Acquisition costs for business combination (note 22)

–

413

5,102

4,815

Auditor’s remuneration
Services provided by the Group’s auditor and its associates

During the year the Group (including its overseas subsidiaries) obtained the following services from the Company’s
auditor and its associates:

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Parent Company and
consolidated financial statements

31 December
2019
$’000

31 December
2018
$’000
(restated)

37

41

Fees payable to the Company's auditor for other services:
3

4

Audit-related assurance services

15

–

Corporate finance services

10

117

Audit of subsidiaries

NOTE 6: STAFF COSTS AND DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
Group

Staff costs

Wages and salaries

31 December
2019
$’000

31 December
2018
$’000
(restated)

242

484

Pensions and other benefits

10

13

Social security costs

22

85

Share based payments (note 25)

283

111

Total employee benefits

557

693

4

3

Average number of employees from continuing operations (excluding Non-Executive
Directors)
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NOTE 6: STAFF COSTS AND DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS continued
Group

Directors’ emoluments

Wages and salaries
Pensions and other benefits

31 December
2019
$’000

31 December
2018
$’000
(restated)

992

791

32

10

Social security costs

127

51

Share based payments (note 25)

616

440

1,767

1,292

Total employee benefits

The highest paid Director received aggregate emoluments of $558k (2018: $584k) as disclosed in the Directors’
Remuneration Report on page 28.

NOTE 7: FINANCE INCOME/EXPENSE
Group
31 December
2019
$’000

31 December
2018
$’000
(restated)

Interest income

39

–

Unrealised gain on foreign exchange forward contracts

15

–

–

336

54

336

Finance income

Foreign exchange gain
Total finance income

Group

Finance expense

31 December
2019
$’000

31 December
2018
$’000
(restated)

2,335

–

32

–

Foreign exchange loss

285

–

Total finance expense

2,652

–

Interest on borrowings
Finance charge on lease liabilities

NOTE 8: INCOME TAX
Income tax
Group
31 December
2019
$’000

31 December
2018
$’000
(restated)

Current tax

–

–

Total current tax

–

–

Deferred tax

–

1,762

Total deferred tax

–

1,762

Total tax benefit

–

1,762

–

–

–

1,762

–

1,762

Current tax

Deferred tax

Income tax benefit is attributable to:
Loss from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations
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NOTE 8: INCOME TAX continued
Numerical reconciliation of income tax result recognised in the statement of comprehensive income to tax benefit/
expense calculated at the Group’s statutory income tax rate is as follows:
Group
31 December
2019
$’000

31 December
2018
$000
(restated)

(7,862)

Loss from continuing operations before tax

(4,485)

(8,773)

(8,966)

(16,635)

(13,451)

Income tax benefit using the Group’s blended tax rate of 22% (2018: 24%)

3,593

3,280

Non-deductible expenses

(1,167)

Loss from discontinued operations before tax
Total loss before tax

(155)

–

Non-taxable income
Prior year adjustment
Current year losses and temporary differences for which no deferred tax asset was
recognised

167

(25)

(122)

(2,401)

(1,408)

–

Income tax benefit/(expense)

1,762

Deferred tax

The temporary differences which make up the closing deferred tax asset are summarised below:
Group
31 December
2019
$’000

31 December
2018
$000
(restated)

Tax losses

–

2,285

Total deferred tax assets

–

2,285

Deferred tax assets totalling $2.2m are recorded within assets of the disposal group, and have been recognised in
respect of tax losses and temporary differences based on management assessment that future taxable profit will be
available against which the subsidiary company can utilise the benefits. No DTA in respect of carried forward tax losses
has been recognised in respect of any UK or Singapore domiciled Group company due to doubt about the availability of
future profits in these companies. Total gross unrecognised losses for the Group are $23.1m.

NOTE 9: LOSS PER SHARE
31 December
2019

31 December
2018
(restated)

Basic loss per share from continuing operations ($)

(0.010)

(0.008)

Diluted loss per share from continuing operations ($)

(0.010)

(0.008)

Basic loss per share from discontinued operations ($)

(0.011)

(0.012)

Diluted loss per share from discontinued operations ($)

(0.011)

(0.012)

The calculation of basic loss per share from continuing operations was based on the loss attributable to shareholders
of $7.9m (2018: $4.5m) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year of 768,697,359
(2018: 578,376,890).
Basic loss per share from discontinued operations was based on the loss attributable to shareholders from discontinued
operations of $8.8m (2018: $7.2m).
Diluted loss per share from continuing and discontinued operations for the current and comparative periods is
equivalent to basic loss per share since the effect of all dilutive potential ordinary shares is anti-dilutive. The potential
dilutive shares includes warrants issued to Eurobond holders (note 17) and options issued to Directors and management
(note 25).
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NOTE 10: INVENTORY
Group

Well equipment and spares

31 December
2019
$’000

31 December
2018
$’000
(restated)

–

325

–

325

Well equipment and spares inventory has been reclassified to assets of a disposal group held for sale (note 21).

NOTE 11: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Group
31 December
2019
$’000

31 December
2018
$’000
(restated)

Current:
Trade receivables

–

412

Accrued revenue

–

325

73

2,170

149

52

Indirect taxes receivable
Prepayments
Other receivables

4

1,142

226

4,102

150

266

150

266

Non-current:
Other receivables

Company
31 December
2019
$’000

31 December
2018
$’000
(restated)

73

44

Current:
Indirect taxes receivable
Prepayments

148

53

Other receivables

894

1,169

Intercompany receivables

288

–

1,403

1,265

150

146

150

146

Non-current:
Other receivables

Included within other receivables of the Company is a receivable of $889k (2018: $1.1m) from Sound Energy plc for the
expected cost of environmental rehabilitation of the Badile licence as explained in note 22. If the disposal of our Italian
business to Zenith Energy Ltd completes as expected, this receivable will be novated to Zenith and accordingly is
included within assets of a disposal group held for sale in the Group balance sheet.
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NOTE 12: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Group
31 December
2019
$’000

Office furniture and equipment
Oil and gas assets

31 December
2018
$’000
(restated)

50

235

–

6,380

50

6,615

Reconciliation of the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment are set out below:
Group
31 December
2019
$’000

31 December
2018
$’000
(restated)

235

9

Office furniture and equipment:
Carrying amount at beginning of period
Acquired in business combination
Additions
Depreciation expense
Reclassification to assets of disposal group held for sale
Effect of foreign exchange
Carrying amount at end of period

–

219

12

85

(29)

(60)

(170)

–

2

(18)

50

235

6,380

2,757

Oil and gas assets:
Carrying amount at beginning of period

–

2,927

43

1,580

Depreciation expense

(275)

(496)

Impairment losses

(585)

(30)

Acquired in business combination
Additions

Reclassification to assets of disposal group held for sale
Effect of foreign exchange
Carrying amount at end of period

(5,433)

–

(130)

(358)

–

6,380

Prior to reclassification of the Group’s Italian oil and gas assets to a disposal group held for sale, an impairment test
was undertaken as required by IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. Due mainly to a
reduction in the Group’s gas price forecast following a deterioration in market conditions in 2019, an impairment of $191k
was recorded on the Bezzecca cash-generating unit (“CGU”) and $394k on the Rapagnano CGU.
Company

Office furniture and equipment

58

31 December
2019
$’000

31 December
2018
$’000
(restated)

50

65

50

65
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NOTE 12: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT continued
Reconciliation of the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment are set out below:
Company
31 December
2019
$’000

31 December
2018
$’000
(restated)

65

–

1

73

Office furniture and equipment:
Carrying amount at beginning of period
Additions

(18)

Depreciation expense

(6)

2

Effect of foreign exchange

(2)

50

Carrying amount at end of period

65

NOTE 13: INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Group
31 December
2019
$’000

31 December
2018
$’000
(restated)

17,247

3,076

Goodwill

–

4,360

Software

30

38

17,277

7,474

Exploration and evaluation assets

Reconciliation of the carrying amounts for each material class of intangible assets are set out below:
Group
31 December
2019
$’000

31 December
2018
$’000
(restated)

3,076

2,092

–

8,524

17,253

155

Exploration and evaluation assets:
Carrying amount at beginning of period
Acquired in business combination
Additions
Impairment losses
Reclassification to assets of disposal group held for sale
Impact of foreign exchange
Carrying amount at end of period

–
(3,005)
(77)

(7,218)
–
(477)

17,247

3,076

4,360

–

–

4,688

Goodwill:
Carrying amount at beginning of period
Acquired in business combination
Impairment
Impact of foreign exchange
Carrying amount at end of period

(4,336)
(24)
–

–
(328)
4,360

As required by IFRS 5, goodwill was tested for impairment when the Group’s Italian business was designated as a
disposal group held for sale. Due mainly to a reduction in the Group’s gas price forecast following a deterioration in
market conditions in 2019, goodwill was impaired in full. The Group’s Italian exploration and evaluation assets were also
tested for impairment prior to reclassification to a disposal group held for sale. No impairment was noted.
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NOTE 13: INTANGIBLE ASSETS continued
The remaining exploration and evaluation assets relate to the Group’s interest in the Duyung PSC acquired during the
period. No indicators of impairment of these assets were noted, see note 2e.
Company

Software

31 December
2019
$’000

31 December
2018
$’000
(restated)

30

24

30

24

NOTE 14: ASSET HELD FOR SALE
Group

Land

31 December
2019
$’000

31 December
2018
$’000
(restated)

–

2,062

As detailed in note 22, the Group acquired land on which the Badile licence is located as part of the acquisition of Sound
Energy Holdings Italy Limited in the prior year. The Group is actively marketing the land for sale as required by the
terms of the SEHIL Sale & Purchase Agreement (“SPA”). Under the terms of the SPA, all proceeds from the sale of the
Badile land will be remitted to the vendor, net of any transaction costs incurred by Coro. Accordingly, a $2.3m payable
was recorded within trade and other payables in the prior year representing the amount owing to the vendor. In 2019,
the Badile land asset and the payable to Sound Energy have been included within assets and liabilities of a disposal
group held for sale (note 21).

NOTE 15: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Group
31 December
2019
$’000

31 December
2018
$’000
(restated)

184

4,765

Current:
Trade payables
Payroll liabilities

–

74

Other payables

–

305

Accrued expenses

315

987

Payables to Duyung venture

547

–

1,046

6,131

Company
31 December
2019
$’000

31 December
2018
$’000
(restated)

2,162

3,291

285

610

4

–

2,451

3,901

Current:
Trade payables
Accrued expenses
Intercompany payables

Included within trade payables of the Company is a payable of $2.0m (2018: $2.1m) to Sound Energy plc for the expected
sales proceeds of the Badile land as explained in note 22. If the disposal of our Italian business to Zenith Energy Ltd
completes as expected, this payable will be novated to Zenith and accordingly is included within liabilities of a disposal
group held for sale in the Group balance sheet.
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NOTE 16: PROVISIONS
Group
31 December
2019
$’000

31 December
2018
$’000
(restated)

Employee leave entitlements

–

52

Other provisions

–

317

Rehabilitation provisions

–

1,155

–

1,524

13

717

Current:

Non-current:
Other provisions
Rehabilitation provisions

–

7,572

13

8,289

Reconciliation of the movement in rehabilitation provisions is set out below:
Group
31 December
2019
$’000

31 December
2018
$’000
(restated)

1,155

–

Rehabilitation provisions – current
Opening balance
Provision utilised during the period
Reclassified from non-current liabilities
Reclassified to liabilities of disposal group held for sale
Impact of foreign exchange
Closing balance

(18)
–

–
1,155

(1,117)

–

(20)

–

–

1,155

7,572

5,757

–

4,374

44

174

Rehabilitation provisions – non current
Opening balance
Acquired in business combinations
Increase in provision from unwind discount
Changes in provision due to revised estimates

–

(637)

Provision utilised during the period

–

(405)

–

(1,155)

Provision reclassified to current liabilities
Reclassified to liabilities of disposal group held for sale
Impact of foreign exchange
Closing balance

(7,463)
(153)
–

–
(536)
7,572

As well as rehabilitation provisions indicated in the movement table above, other current provisions and employee leave
entitlements totalling $318k, and other non-current provisions of $636k, were reclassified to liabilities of disposal group
held for sale.
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NOTE 17: BORROWINGS
31 December
2019
$’000

31 December
2018
$’000
(restated)

632

–

632

–

19,211

–

19,211

–

Current
Eurobond
Non-current
Eurobond

On 12 April 2019, the Group successfully completed the issue of €22.5m three-year Eurobonds with attached warrants
to key institutional investors. The bonds were issued in two equal tranches A and B, ranking pari passu, with Tranche A
paying an annual 5% cash coupon (first coupon payment April 2020) and Tranche B accruing interest at 5% per annum
payable on redemption. The bonds were issued at 85% of par value, with a 7% commission paid on this subscription
price, resulting in net cash proceeds of €17.6m ($19.7m) before other transaction costs of €0.4m ($0.5m).
The Eurobonds mature on 12 April 2022 at 100% of par value plus any accrued and unpaid coupon, and may be repaid
earlier by the Company at its option at 100% of par plus any accrued and unpaid coupon. Bond subscribers were issued
with 41,357,500 warrants to subscribe for ten new ordinary shares in the Company at an exercise price of 4p per share
at any time over the three-year term of the bonds. An additional 6,000,000 warrants were issued to the firm subscriber
Lombard Odier Asset Management (Europe) Limited and underwriter Pegasus Alternative Fund Ltd.
The warrants were valued on grant date at 3.3p per warrant using the Black Scholes method, based on the following
inputs to the calculation:
•

Share price on grant date: 2.10p

•

Exercise price: 4p

•

Expected volatility: 50%

•

Life of warrants: 3 years

•

Risk free rate: 1%

The total fair value of warrants ($2.0m) was treated as a transaction cost and will be amortised over the life of the bonds.
The bonds were initially recognised at fair value and subsequently are recorded at amortised cost, with an average
effective interest rate of 18.10%. The finance charge included in the profit and loss for 2019 was $2.3m (note 7).

NOTE 18: LEASES
The Group had the following lease assets and liabilities at 31 December 2019:
31 December
2019
$’000

31 December
2018
$’000
(restated)

259

–

90

–

158

–

Right-of-use assets
Properties
Lease liabilities
Current
Non-current
The total finance charge recorded on lease liabilities was $32k (note 7).
The total cash outflow for leases was $238k, of which $174k is shown in the cash flow statement as repayment of
principal and the remaining $64k as related to the implicit finance charge.
A maturity analysis of lease liabilities is included in note 24.
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NOTE 18: LEASES continued
Right-of-use assets

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of each class of right-of-use asset is as follows:
31 December
2019
$’000

Properties
654

Opening balance on adoption of IFRS 16
Depreciation

(125)

Reclassification to assets of disposal group held for sale

(275)
5

Impact of foreign exchange

259
Motor vehicles
14

Opening balance on adoption of IFRS 16

(1)

Depreciation

(13)

Reclassification to assets of disposal group held for sale

–

Impact of foreign exchange

–

NOTE 19: SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM
31 December
2019
Number
000’s

Nominal
value
$’000

Share
premium
$’000

31 December
2019
Total
$’000

718,522

988

43,619

44,607

60,905

79

1,771

1,850

10,159

13

289

302

789,586

1,080

45,679

46,759

31 December
2018
Number
000’s

Nominal
value
$’000

Share
premium
$’000

31 December
2018
Total
$’000

185,908

235

15,056

15,291

Issued for the acquisition of subsidiary

185,907

263

11,242

11,505

Issued for cash consideration

319,635

452

19,332

19,784

Issued for services rendered

27,072

38

1,637

1,675

n/a

n/a

(3,648)

718,522

988

43,619

As at 1 January 2019 (restated)
Shares issued during the period:
Issued to Duyung PSC vendors
Issued for services rendered
Closing balance – 31 December 2019

As at 1 January 2018 (restated)
Shares issued during the period:

Share issue costs
Closing balance – 31 December 2018 (restated)

(3,648)
44,607

All ordinary shares are fully paid and carry one vote per share and the right to dividends. In the event of winding up
the Company, ordinary shareholders rank after creditors. Ordinary shares have a par value of £0.001 per share. Share
premium represents the issue price of shares issued above their nominal value.
No dividends were paid or declared during the current period (2018: nil).
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NOTE 20: RESERVES
Merger reserve

The Merger reserve of $9.7m relates to the reorganisation of ownership of Northsun Italia S.p.A which occurred in the
first half of 2017; being the difference between the value of shares issued and the nominal value of the subsidiary’s
shares received.

Other reserves
Share based payments reserve

The increase in share based payments reserve is partly attributable to the current period charge relating to options
issued to Directors and management of the Company in 2018, which was $899k (2018: $455k). The remaining increase in
share based payments reserve of $2.0m is attributable to warrants issued to subscribers of the Company’s Eurobonds,
as further explained in note 17.

Functional currency translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from translation of the financial position and
performance of the parent company and certain subsidiaries which have a functional currency different to the Group’s
presentation currency of USD. The total loss on foreign exchange recorded in other reserves for the period was $557k
(2018: $2.2m loss).

NOTE 21: DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
During the period, the Group continued to execute its strategy of growth in South East Asia through the acquisition of a
15% interest in the Duyung PSC. Following this acquisition and the Group’s ongoing business development activities in
the region, the Directors see further opportunities to capture value and scale in the region. The same opportunity does
not exist for the Group in Italy, and as a result the Board of Directors took the decision during the period to prioritise full
divestment of the Italian business. As a result, in accordance with IFRS 5, the assets and liabilities of the Italian business
have been classified as a disposal group held for sale. The Italian business represents a separate geographical area of
operation for the Group and has therefore also been treated as a discontinued operation.
The results of the Italian operations for the period are presented below:
31 December
2019
$’000

31 December
2018
$’000
(restated)

Revenue

2,692

2,176

Operating costs

(2,661)

(1,852)

Depreciation and amortisation expense

(283)

(496)

Gross profit/(loss)

(252)

(172)

44

34

Other income
General and administrative expenses

(1,794)

(2,585)

Depreciation expense

(42)

(54)

Change in rehabilitation provisions

206

637

Release of contingent consideration payable
Impairment losses
Loss from operating activities
Finance income
Finance expense
Loss before tax
Income tax benefit/(expense)
Loss for the period after tax

64

–

596

(6,571)

(7,248)

(8,409)

(8,792)

10

–

(374)

(174)

(8,773)

(8,966)

–
(8,773)

1,762
(7,204)
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NOTE 21: DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS continued
The major classes of assets and liabilities of the Italian operations classified as held for sale as at 31 December 2019 are as
follows:
31 December
2019
$’000

Assets
Property, plant and equipment

4,759

Exploration and evaluation assets

1,978
175

Right-of-use assets

2,021

Land

2,240

Deferred tax assets

306

Inventories

2,210

Trade and other receivables

472

Other financial assets

152

Cash

14,313

Total assets
Liabilities

2,990

Trade and other payables

125

Lease liabilities

9,217

Provisions

12,332

Total liabilities

1,981

Net assets
The net cash flows of the Italian operations were as follows:
31 December
2019
$’000

31 December
2018
$’000
(restated)

Net cash flow from operating activities

(1,451)

Net cash flow from investing activities

(1,222)

1,295

Net cash flow from financing activities

2,558

1,994

Net cash inflow/(outflow)

(115)

(3,140)

149

Impairment losses were recorded on the Rapagnano, Bezzecca, Casa Tiberi, Casa Tonetto and Laura CGUs. Goodwill,
which arose from the acquisition of Sound Energy Holdings Italy Limited in April 2018 (note 22), was also written off
in full in the period. After recording impairments on individual CGU's and goodwill, the disposal group as a whole was
tested for impairment as required by IFRS 5. This resulted in an additional impairment of $335k on initial classification of
the Italian business as a disposal group held for sale, and an additional impairment of $391k when the impairment test
was performed again at year-end. Refer to note 2e for further detail.
Included within trade and other receivables is a receivable of $889k from Sound Energy plc ("Sound") for future costs
of rehabilitating the Badile licence which will be reimbursed by Sound, as outlined in note 22. Trade and other payables
includes a payable to Sound totalling $2.0m which is the expected proceeds to be received on sale of the Badile land,
which will be remitted to Sound.
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NOTE 22: BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
On 9 April 2018, the Company acquired the entire issued capital of Sound Energy Holdings Italy Limited (“SEHIL”)
and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Apennine Energy S.p.A (“Apennine”). While SEHIL does not trade, Apennine is engaged
in the discovery and exploitation of hydrocarbons in Italy. The acquisition provided the Group with additional reserves
through the acquisition of the operating Rapagnano and Casa Tiberi gas fields, as well as a portfolio of exploration
assets. The Group also acquired experienced technical and operational staff with a proven ability to explore, appraise,
develop and operate oil and gas assets. An effective date for accounting purposes of 31 March 2018 was used for
the acquisition, given the level of transactions between this date and the legal acquisition date of 9 April 2018 were
immaterial.

Consideration for the Acquisition

Details of the purchase consideration, the net assets acquired, and goodwill are as follows:
$’000

Purchase consideration:
Ordinary shares issued
Contingent consideration
Payment for working capital

11,505
621
2,214
14,340

The fair value of the 185,907,500 consideration shares issued to the shareholders of Sound Energy plc ($11.5m) was based
on the published share price of the Company on acquisition date of 4.38p per share.
The vendor is entitled to 5% of gross sales proceeds from the D.R 74.AP licence (the Laura field). In order to calculate
the present value of this contingent consideration, the Company estimated gross future sales revenue from the Laura
field and applied a 10% chance of success factor to this revenue to take into account the regulatory framework in Italy
which currently prohibits the development of Laura, discussed further below. The resulting estimate of contingent
consideration was discounted to present value at a rate of 2%, representing an approximation of the time value of
money. The contingent consideration was recognised as a non-current payable in the Group balance sheet but was
subsequently released to the income statement in 2018 due to the impairment of the Laura assets.
A further cash payment of €1.8m ($2.2m) was made to the vendor in July 2018 for the working capital in Apennine on
acquisition date.

Fair value of assets and liabilities acquired

The assets and liabilities of Apennine recognised as a result of the acquisition were as follows:
Fair value
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents

2,991

Trade and other receivables

3,914

Inventories
Intangible assets

185
8,524

Property, plant and equipment

3,147

Land

2,216

Trade and other payables

(5,109)

Rehabilitation provisions

(4,374)

Deferred tax liabilities

(1,837)

Net identifiable assets acquired

9,657

Add: goodwill

4,683
14,340

The goodwill was attributable to gross unrecognised tax losses of €45m (approximately $55m on acquisition date) in
Apennine for which no deferred tax asset was recognised at the acquisition date. Goodwill was also attributable to
operational synergies expected to be realised through merging the Group’s two Italian subsidiaries, which management
has estimated will save in excess of €0.5m per annum in overhead costs from 2020 (approximately $0.6m using the
acquisition date exchange rate).
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NOTE 22: BUSINESS COMBINATIONS continued
The identifiable assets and liabilities stated above includes the following:
•

Badile land ($2.2m): Under the terms of the Sale & Purchase Agreement (“SPA”), all proceeds from the sale of the
Badile land will be remitted to the vendor, net of any transaction costs incurred by Coro. Accordingly, a $2.2m
payable was recorded within the acquisition date fair value of trade and other payables above representing the
amount owing to the vendor.

•

Badile VAT receivable ($1.1m): Under the terms of the SPA, any VAT refunds received by Apennine in respect of a
drilling campaign on the Badile licence were to be remitted to the vendor. A $1.1m payable was recorded within the
acquisition date fair value of trade and other payables to reflect this. The Badile VAT refund was duly paid to Sound
Energy plc in March 2019.

•

Badile rehabilitation provision ($1.1m): Under the terms of the SPA, any expenditures incurred by Apennine on
rehabilitating the Badile licence will be reimbursed by the vendor. The acquisition date fair value of the rehabilitation
provision for Badile was $1.1m. As such, a $1.1m receivable was included in the acquisition date fair values to reflect
this amount which will be collected from the vendor. Payments totalling $0.2m were received from Sound Energy
up to 30 June 2019.

The significant estimates and judgements relevant to the valuation of Apennine’s assets were as follows:
1.

Apennine has two producing gas fields, Rapagnano and Casa Tiberi, which were valued using a discounted cash
flow (“DCF”) model. Production and cost forecasts were based on a Competent Person’s Report prepared by CGG
Associates. Gas prices were assumed at €0.24/scm in 2018, and inflated at 2% per annum thereafter. A discount rate
of 7% was applied to future cash flows, based on the Group’s weighted average cost of capital. The remaining oil and
gas assets acquired primarily related to a gas plant and associated equipment used on the Casa Tonetto field, which
were valued by an external valuer. A small impairment was subsequently recorded on Casa Tonetto assets in 2018.

2. Two exploration assets were also valued using a DCF methodology, the Laura and Santa Maria Goretti fields.
Key assumptions such as gas price and discount rate were consistent with those used for producing gas fields.
Production estimates were prepared internally, and total production estimates are comparable to those reported
in the most recent CPR. Cost estimates were determined internally, based on our knowledge of other similar fields
developed by the Group. The key estimate made by the Company was the chance of success factors applied to the
calculated net present values of the two fields:
a. Laura (10% chance of success): In December 2015, a new Budget law was passed in Italy which prevents any
exploitation of oil and gas licences within 12 nautical miles of the coast. The Laura field is approximately 4 km
offshore, and hence the licence is currently suspended pending a change to current regulation which would
allow the field development to progress. Management estimated there was a 10% chance of regulatory change
occurring.
b. Santa Maria Goretti (40%): A chance of success of 40% was applied to this field, which took into account the
comparatively early stage of exploration and appraisal of the licence.
As discussed in the 2018 Annual Report, due to a further worsening of the investment climate in Italy for exploration
assets including an 18-month moratorium on exploration permitting, the Directors took the decision to impair the Santa
Maria Goretti field to nil, while the Laura field was impaired to its historic cost value. The total of these impairments,
along with write-off of capitalised permit application costs incurred by Apennine, was $6.8m.

Revenue and profit contribution

The acquired business contributed revenues of $756k and a net loss of $850k to the Group in the period from 1 April
2018 to 31 December 2018. If the business were acquired on 1 January 2018 the Group’s loss before tax would have
increased by $248k.

Discontinued operation

As discussed further in note 21, the Group’s entire Italian business has been classified as a disposal group held for sale
and results from the Italian business are shown as discontinued operations.
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NOTE 23: INVESTMENT IN, AND LOANS TO, SUBSIDIARIES

Company
2019
$’000

2018
$’000
(restated)

Cost
At 1 January
Additions
At 31 December

27,142

11,822

24,670

15,320

51,812

27,142

(22,848)

(5,158)

Accumulated impairment
At 1 January
Impairment
At 31 December

(9,374)

(17,690)

(32,222)

(22,848)

177

Impact of foreign exchange

(486)

Net book value
19,767

At 31 December

3,808

The Company’s subsidiary undertakings at the date of issue of these financial statements, which are all 100% owned, are
set out below:
Name

Incorporated

Principal activity

Registered address

Apennine Energy S.p.A*

Italy

Exploration, development
and production company

Via XXV Aprile 5, San Donato
Milanese, (MI) 2009, Italy

Coro Europe Limited*

England

Holding company

40 George St, London, W1U
7DW, United Kingdom

Coro Asia Limited*

England

Holding company

40 George St, London, W1U
7DW, United Kingdom

Coro Energy Asia Limited*

England

Holding company

40 George St, London, W1U
7DW, United Kingdom

Coro Energy Holdings Cell A Limited

England

Holding company

40 George St, London, W1U
7DW, United Kingdom

Coro Energy (Singapore) Pte Ltd*

Singapore

Holding company

80 Robinson Road #02–00,
Singapore 068898

Coro Energy Bulu (Singapore) Pte Ltd*

Singapore

Holding company

80 Robinson Road #02–00,
Singapore 068898

Coro Energy Duyung (Singapore) Pte
Ltd*

Singapore

Exploration and
development company

80 Robinson Road #02–00,
Singapore 068898

* Indirectly held

As part of a Group reorganisation undertaken in March 2019, the Company sold its interest in Northsun Italia S.p.A
(“Northsun”) to its subsidiary, Apennine Energy S.p.A (“Apennine”). Northsun was subsequently merged with Apennine
in September 2019.
The following subsidiaries are exempt from audit for the 2019 financial year under s479A of the Companies Act 2006:
Coro Asia Limited, Coro Energy Asia Limited, Coro Energy Holdings Cell A Limited.

Loans to subsidiaries
Company
2019
$’000

2018
$’000
(restated)

Loans to subsidiaries

169

–

At 31 December

169

–

Loans to subsidiaries

–

5,318

At 31 December

–

5,318

Current

Non-current

Loans to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and are repayable on demand.
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NOTE 24: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Carrying amount versus fair value

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, together with the carrying amounts in the consolidated
statement of financial position, are as follows.
31 December 2019
Group
Carrying
amount
$’000

Fair value
$’000

227

227

15

15

6,374

6,374

1,046

1,046

248

248

19,843

19,843

Financial assets
Trade and other receivables (current and non-current)
Derivative financial instruments
Cash and cash equivalents
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Lease liabilities (current and non-current)
Borrowings (current and non-current)
31 December 2018 (restated)
Group
Carrying
amount
$’000

Fair value
$’000

648

648

Trade and other receivables (current and non-current)

4,319

4,319

Cash and cash equivalents

9,361

9,361

6,131

6,131

Financial assets
Other financial assets

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
31 December 2019
Company
Carrying
amount
$’000

Fair value
$’000

1,405

1,405

169

169

Financial assets
Trade and other receivables (current and non-current)
Loans to subsidiaries
Derivative financial instruments
Cash and cash equivalents

15

15

5,324

5,324

2,451

2,451

248

248

19,843

19,843

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Lease liabilities (current and non-current)
Borrowings (current and non-current)
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NOTE 24: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued
31 December 2018 (restated)
Company
Carrying
amount
$’000

Fair value
$’000

1,363

1,363

Financial assets
Trade and other receivables
Loans to subsidiaries
Cash and cash equivalents

5,318

5,318

9,088

9,088

3,901

3,901

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables

Determination of fair values

All the Group’s financial instruments are carried at amortised cost with the exception of derivative financial instruments
which are recorded at fair value through profit and loss. The carrying value of trade and other receivables, cash and cash
equivalents and trade and other payables approximates their fair value. Borrowings comprises the Group’s Eurobond,
which is listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. To date no bonds have been traded so carrying value is deemed to
approximate fair value at the balance sheet date.

Financial risk management

Exposure to credit, market and liquidity risks arise in the normal course of the Group’s business.
This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, their objectives, policies and
processes for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital.
Risk recognition and management are viewed as integral to the Group’s objectives of creating and maintaining
shareholder value, and the successful execution of the Group’s strategies in oil and gas exploration and development.
The Board as a whole is responsible for oversight of the processes by which risk is considered for both ongoing
operations and prospective actions. In specific areas, it is assisted by the Audit and Risk Committee.
Management is responsible for establishing procedures which provide assurance that major business risks are
identified, consistently assessed and appropriately addressed.

(i) Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk on its cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and derivative financial
instruments. The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset as
shown in the table above and in note 21.
Credit risk with respect to cash is reduced through maintaining banking relationships with financial intermediaries with
acceptable credit ratings. All banks with which the Group has a relationship have an investment grade credit rating and
a stable outlook according to recognised credit rating agencies.
The Group undertakes credit checks for all material new counterparties prior to entering into a contractual relationship.

(ii) Market risk
Interest rate risk

The Group is primarily exposed to interest rate risk arising from cash and cash equivalents that are interest-bearing. The
Group’s Eurobond bears interest at a fixed rate. Interest rate risk is currently not material for the Group.

Currency risk

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk. Foreign exchange risk arises from future
commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities denominated in a currency that is not the functional
currency of the relevant Group entity. The Group’s primary currency exposure is to Euros, which is the denomination
of the Eurobond. The Group is also exposed to changes in the Sterling exchange rate against the US dollar. The Group
holds a majority of its cash in US dollars, which is the currency in which the Group’s investment expenditures in South
East Asia are denominated. This gives rise to Sterling exposure due to a largely Sterling cost base in the UK. The Group’s
policy is to hedge up to 40% of Sterling exposure through simple forward contracts which are recorded as derivative
financial instruments in the balance sheet.
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NOTE 24: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued
The Group’s and Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting period is summarised below.
All amounts are presented in US dollar equivalent.
Group

Trade and other receivables (current and non-current)
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other payables
Borrowings (current and non-current)
Net exposure

2019
$’000
USD

2019
$’000
EUR

2018
$’000
USD
(restated)

2018
$’000
EUR
(restated)

–

–

–

1,064

4,983

235

8,856

(41)

–

(46)

–

(19,843)

–

4,942

(19,608)

8,810

–
(3,068)
–
(2,004)

Company

Trade and other receivables (current and non-current)
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans to subsidiaries
Trade and other payables
Borrowings (current and non-current)
Net exposure

2019
$’000
USD

2019
$’000
EUR

2018
$’000
USD
(restated)

2018
$’000
EUR
(restated)

278

–

–

1,064

4,983

235

8,856

–

–

168

–

5,319

(41)

(1,979)

(46)

(3,231)

–

(19,843)

–

–

5,220

(21,419)

8,810

3,152

Sensitivity analysis

As shown in the table above, the Group is primarily exposed to changes in the GBP:USD exchange rate through its
cash balance held in USD by the Company, and to changes in the GBP:EUR exchange rate due to the Eurobond
denominated in EUR. The table below shows the impact in USD on pre-tax profit and loss of a 10% increase/decrease in
the GBP to USD exchange rate, holding all other variables constant. Also shown is the impact of a 10% increase/decrease
in the GBP to EUR exchange rate, being the other primary currency exposure.
Group
$’000

Company
$'000

31 December 2019
USD:GBP exchange rate increases 10%

494

522

USD:GBP exchange rate decreases 10%

(449)

(474)

EUR:GBP exchange rate increases 10%

(1,961)

(2,145)

EUR:GBP exchange rate decreases 10%

1,782

1,950

31 December 2018 (restated)
USD:GBP exchange rate increases 10%

881

881

USD:GBP exchange rate decreases 10%

(801)

(801)

EUR:GBP exchange rate increases 10%

(200)

315

EUR:GBP exchange rate decreases 10%

182

(286)
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NOTE 24: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued
(iii) Capital management

The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain creditor confidence and to sustain future
development of the business, safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and provide returns for
shareholders. The Group’s Eurobond was issued with 47,357,500 attaching warrants which entitle warrant holders to
subscribe for ten new ordinary shares in the Company at an exercise price of 4p per share at any time over the threeyear term of the bonds. Should the warrants be exercised, the exercise proceeds will substantially cover the Eurobond
repayment due on 12 April 2022 and recapitalise the Group.
While the Group does not have any set capital ratios it observes, management recognises that it will be necessary to
recapitalise the Group through the issue of new equity in the nearer term in order to meet its strategic objectives.

(iv) Liquidity risk

The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities
when due. Refer to the Going Concern statement in note 2c for further commentary.
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on their contractual
maturities. The amounts presented are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.
Group

31 December 2019

Trade and other payables
Lease liabilities
Borrowings
Total

Less than 6
months
$'000

6 to 12
months
$'000

Between 1
and 2 years
$'000

Between 2
and 5 years
$'000

Total
contractual
cash flows
$'000

1,046

–

–

–

1,046

57

57

114

60

288

632

–

632

27,886

29,150

1,735

57

746

27,946

30,484

Group
Less than 6
months
$'000

6 to 12
months
$'000

Between 1
and 2 years
$'000

Between 2
and 5 years
$'000

Total
contractual
cash flows
$'000

Trade and other payables

4,069

2,062

–

–

6,131

Total

4,069

2,062

–

–

6,131

Between 1
and 2 years
$'000

Between 2
and 5 years
$'000

Total
contractual
cash flows
$'000

31 December 2018 (restated)

Company

31 December 2019

Trade and other payables
Lease liabilities

Less than 6
months
$'000

6 to 12
months
$'000

472

1,979

–

–

2,451

57

57

114

60

289

Borrowings

632

–

632

27,886

29,149

Total

1,161

2,036

746

27,946

31,889

Company
Less than 6
months
$'000

6 to 12
months
$'000

Between 1
and 2 years
$'000

Between 2
and 5 years
$'000

Total
contractual
cash flows
$'000

Trade and other payables

4,069

2,062

–

–

6,131

Total

4,069

2,062

–

–

6,131

31 December 2018 (restated)

Included within payables due in 6 to 12 months by the Company is a balance of $2.0m (2018: $2.1m) owing to Sound
Energy plc from the expected sales proceeds of the Badile land as explained in note 22. If the disposal of our Italian
business to Zenith Energy Ltd completes as expected, this payable will be novated to Zenith and accordingly is included
within liabilities of a disposal group held for sale in the Group balance sheet.
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NOTE 25: SHARE BASED PAYMENTS
The Company issued the following equity instruments during the year in exchange for goods and services:
31 December 2019
No. of equity
instruments
’000s

Value of
service
$’000

Recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income:
Ordinary shares issued for professional services provided*
Options issued to director

1,787

31

10,000

10

60,905

1,850

473,575

2,007

Recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
Shares issued to Duyung vendors
Recognised directly in equity:
Warrants issued to Eurobond subscribers

*	Additional ordinary shares were issued in 2019 in respect of bonuses granted to executives and management for the 2018 performance year.
The expense associated with bonus shares was recognised in 2018 so they are not reflected here.

31 December 2018
No. of equity
instruments
’000s

Value of
service
$’000
(restated)

Recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income:
Ordinary shares issued in lieu of Directors’ fees
Ordinary shares issued for professional services provided
Options issued to Directors and management
Warrants issued in exchange for general services

86

5

685

43

93,000

551

5,000

19

24,589

1,521

Recognised as share issue costs in the consolidated statement of changes in equity:
Ordinary shares issued in lieu of commissions on placement
Ordinary shares issued for professional services related to placement
Warrants issued on placement

1,712

107

159,817

655

Share options and warrants

The following equity settled share based awards were made in the current and prior year:
Date of grant

No. of options
’000s

Expiry date

Purpose

Contractual
life of option

09-Apr-18

67,000

09-Apr-23

As part of overall compensation to directors/management

5 years

01-May-18

25,000

01-May-23

As part of overall compensation to directors/management

5 years

09-Jul-18

1,000

09-Jul-23

As part of overall compensation to directors/management

5 years

04-Oct-19

10,000

04-Oct-24

As part of overall compensation to directors/management

5 years

The options vest after three years of continuous service with the Company. The fair value of services rendered in return
for share options is based on the fair value of share options granted and was measured using the Black-Scholes model.

Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2019

73

Stock code: CORO

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2019

NOTE 25: SHARE BASED PAYMENTS continued
The following inputs were used in the measurement of the fair values at grant date of the options granted:
9 April 2018
5-year option

Fair value at grant date

1 May 2018
5-year option

9 July 2018
5-year option

4 October 2019
5-year option

0.94p

1.86p

1.53p

1.20p

Share price at grant date

4.30p

3.83p

3.33p

2.92p

Exercise price

4.38p

4.38p

4.38p

4.38p

Expected volatility

50%

50%

50%

50%

5 years

5 years

5 years

5 years

1%

1%

1%

1%

09–Apr–23

01–May–23

09–Jul–23

04-Oct-24

Option life
Risk-free interest rate (based on yield on five-year
gilts)
Expiry date
p – British pence

The fair value of the options granted are spread over the vesting period. The amount recognised in the income
statement for the year ended 31 December 2019 was $899k (2018: $551k).
This 2019 charge included the accelerated vesting of options issued to two former directors who resigned during
the period. According to their respective option deeds, the options became immediately exercisable at their original
exercise price of 4.38p per share for a period of three months following resignation. The options were not exercised and
have lapsed. The cumulative expense recognised for lapsed options has been recycled to accumulated losses.
The Company issued new warrants to Eurobond subscribers in 2019. Further detail is provided in note 17.
In the prior year, the Company issued 159m warrants to new shareholders as an incentive to subscribe for new shares in
the Company. A further 5m warrants were granted to service providers in lieu of cash compensation.
Date of grant

No. of options
’000s

Expiry date

Purpose

Contractual
life of option

09-Apr-18

159,817

09-Apr-19

Incentive to new shareholders to subscribe for shares in the
Company at the April 2018 placing

1 year

09-Apr-18

5,000

09-Apr-19

Issued for professional services provided

1 year

The amount recognised in the income statement in the prior year represents the amount of the fair value of warrants
issued for services rendered of $19k.
The amount recognised in equity as a cost directly attributable to the issue of shares represents the amount of the fair
value of warrants issued to new shareholders of $655k.
The warrants were not exercised and expired on 9 April 2019.

NOTE 26: INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES
Asia

The Group’s wholly owned subsidiary, Coro Energy Duyung (Singapore) Pte Ltd is the owner of a 15% interest in the
Duyung Production Sharing Contract (“PSC”).
The Duyung PSC partners have entered into a Joint Operating Agreement (“JOA”) which governs the arrangement. As
described in note 2e, Coro has determined that it has significant influence over the arrangement by virtue of its 15%
equity stake and representation on the Operating Committee, the key decision-making body of the arrangement. The
Group accounts for its share of assets, liabilities and expenses of the venture in accordance with the IFRSs applicable to
the particular assets, liabilities and expenses.
At 31 December, a payable of $547k is recorded in note 15 which represents the Group’s share of 2019 expenditures
not yet paid to the venture. The operator of the venture is West Natuna Exploration Ltd (“WNEL”). WNEL is a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and its principal place of business is Indonesia.

Italy

In June 2019, the Group entered into an agreement with Petrorep Italiana SpA to acquire its 10% interest in the Cascina
Castello production licence, which contains the Bezzecca field. The deal has an economic effective date of 1 May 2019,
but has not yet completed due to outstanding approvals from the Italian Ministry for Economic Development. On
completion, Petrorep will pay the Group €100k ($112k), representing their share of rehabilitation costs to be incurred in
future on the licence. Post-completion, the Group will own 100% of the licence (prior to completion of the disposal of
Coro Europe).
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NOTE 27: CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS
Commitments

Coro's share of the approved 2020 Duyung Work Program and Budget is estimated at $615k.

Contingencies

As outlined further in note 21, there is contingent consideration receivable from Zenith Energy Ltd in respect of the
disposal of Coro Europe, which is subject to certain production milestones being met. As of the date of publication of
these financial statements, the disposal of Coro Europe has not yet completed due to outstanding approvals from the
Italian Ministry for Economic Development.
The Group has no contingent liabilities.

NOTE 28: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Key management personnel compensation

Short-term benefits
Post-employment benefits
Share based payments

2019
$’000

2018
$’000
(restated)

1,026

1,379

32

67

616

472

Key management personnel consists of the Directors of the Company (2018: Directors of the Company plus the Chief
Financial Officer)

Other related party transactions
Sound Energy plc and Echo Energy plc

The Company had two Directors in 2019 who were also Directors of Sound Energy plc and three Directors who were
also directors of Echo Energy plc until Fiona MacAulay’s resignation as a director of Echo on 31 May 2019. All transactions
entered into between the companies are made on arm’s length terms.
In 2019, Echo recharged the Company $4k in respect of broadband internet for the Company’s head office. $152k of
Badile rehabilitation costs were recharged to Sound by the Company during 2019 under the terms of the SPA entered
into with Sound in 2018 in respect of the purchase of Sound Energy Holdings Italy Ltd. The Company also repaid $1.1m to
Sound in respect of the Badile VAT rebate as provided in the SPA. See note 22.

CIP Merchant Capital Ltd

CIP Merchant Capital Ltd (“CIP”) is considered a related party of the Group under IAS 24 Related party transactions
by virtue of its 19.1% shareholding and representation on the Board (1 Director). During the period, CIP subscribed for
€4.05m Tranche A Eurobonds with 7,444,305 Warrants attached and continues to hold these instruments as at the date
of publication of these financial statements.
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NOTE 29: SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Withdrawal from Bulu acquisition

On 31 January 2020, the decision was taken not to proceed with the acquisition of a 42.5% interest in the Bulu PSC,
offshore Indonesia.
Following the successful drilling campaign on the Duyung PSC in Q4 2019, together with the growing number of M&A
opportunities in the region, Coro can be selective about the assets it chooses to bring into its portfolio. In that context,
with government regulatory approvals still outstanding and concerns around the future of the operating partner,
the potential changes to the composition of the Bulu partnership group and the possibility of new requirements
being introduced in satisfying the Plan of Development at Bulu, the Board viewed the risks associated with the Bulu
acquisition from Coro's perspective had significantly increased.
The long stop date for completion of the acquisition was 2 December 2019. Accordingly, we elected to let the acquisition
lapse in accordance with the terms of the acquisition agreement.

Board changes

As discussed further in the Chairman's Statement, James Menzies was terminated as CEO of the Company effective
1 April 2020. Nick Cooper, appointed as a Director on 15 January 2020, resigned effective 1 April 2020. Andrew Dennan
stepped down as CFO on the same date but remains a Non-Executive Director.

COVID-19

As outlined in the Chairman’s Statement and Strategic Report, COVID-19 has had limited direct impact on Coro’s assets
in South East Asia but the disposal of the Group's Italian assets is anticipated to be delayed due to delays in obtaining
the necessary governmental approvals. Production operations in Italy have been unaffected to date, with the assets
being managed through a combination of on-site working within social distancing guidelines or remote oversight,
with all appropriate safety procedures remaining in place to protect staff and local communities. While our operational
capability is largely unaffected, we have taken the decision to temporarily suspend production on unprofitable fields.
The fields will continue to be maintained to allow the swift resumption of production when external conditions improve.
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